"MY NAME IS LEGION": AN EXPLORATION OF THE MEANING OF THE STORY OF THE GERASERE DEMONIAC IN MARK 5:1-20



Proceedings Phone In Proceedings Conf. Process
Many Making, John Smiller, and Microsof Gramower

A Major construct to the

Appendix of the Appendix Market of Const.

Disordalisias Philosophical Conductor Starting Rigidian

Panishing Planck New Anglian Plancy
May Drive, John Dellin, and Markett Common
Street Barrier
Street Barrier
Street Barrier
Street Barrier
Street Barrier

Most med pass Most debter Colonia and Grando and Hadrong Dig

Mercula University of Nepherodesid

"My Name is Legion": An Exploration of the Meaning of the Story of the Gerasene Demoniac in Mark 5:1-20

Linda M. Scott

A thesis submitted to the

School of Graduate Studies

in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of

Master of Arts

Department of Religious Studies Memorial University of Newfoundland

September 2010

Newfoundland

St. John's

Abstract

The tentry of the Germane demonsion in Mark 5:1-20 is one of the great stories of the bible. Yet the full implications of this story remarks greatly unexplored. Scholars have focused mostly on it as a single periodory with interesting histories furtures. In function within the whole of the Martan reduction has, surprisingly, been neglected. This thesis seeks to reduces this neglect by downing how the story of the conceinn of the Germane demonsias acts as a hermoenutical key which helps us access the fuller dimensions of Mark's narrative.

The form critical approach to Mark's Coopel treated it as a mere collection of traditions. Rodolf Bulmann, for example, claimed that Mark was someone who was not sufficiently in control of fils material to be able to impose his own theological view upon it. In more recent scholarship, however, the Gospel of Mark is seen as a complex and sophisticated narrative with a very definite theological point of view. This thesis suggest that this point of view is seen quite clearly when we examine how the story of the Geneme demonistic functions within the whole narrative.

Exorcisms are crucial in understanding the significance of Jesus' mission. By performing exorcisms Jesus is challenging the ruling auborities and summoning the manginalized and oppressed to embrace the Kingdom of God. The story of the exorcism of the Genusene demoniae is central in Illustrating this encetal aspect of Jesus' mission. Moreover, by closely analyzing the structure of Mark we can use how in the Markan. redaction whole narrative complexes are woven together — especially those concerning exorcisms and feeding miracles — in order to throw into sharper relief the radical nature of what Jesus says and does.

Acknowledgements

There are several people I would like to thank for their support through the process of completing this thesis. I would like to extend my sincere appreciation and thanks to my supervisor, Dr. David Hawkin, whose support, patience and advice have been a source of encouragement through the course of writing this thesis.

I am also thankful to the School of Grahause Studies at Memorial University for their financial support throughout my Master's program. The financial support I received was a great help and is very much appreciated. Finally. I would like to extend my decreat thanks to my family, especially my

parents Robert and Verna, my brother Lloyd, and my extended family. Their unconditional love and support, reassurance and confidence in me has been a source of inspiration, encouragement and incentive to me as I was writing this thesis.

Table of Contents

Abstract	
Acknowledgements	iii
Table of Contents	iv
The Text of Mark 5:1-20	1
Method and Markan Scholarship	
Introduction	4
Recent approaches to the Study of Mark	9
(a) Psychology and Biblical Studies	9
(b) Politics and Religion	17
(c) Social Science and the Understanding of Mark	23
The Gerasene Demoniac	
Exorcisms in the Gospel of Mark	31
The Gerasene Demoniae in the Gospel of Mark	41
The Dimensions of Mark's Story	52
The Gerasene Demoniac and the Markan Reduction	
Geography and Structure	56
The Bread Cycle	61
The Exoreism Cycle	72
Jesus the Healer	79

Jesus the Bread of Life	85
The Gerasene Demoniac in the Context of Mark's	Message
The Markan Jesus	88
The Markan Message	91

Appendix 1 Bibliography .109

...108

The Text of Mark 5:1-20

Mark 5:1-20 reads:

Καὶ ήλθον είς τὸ πέραν τής θαλάσσης είς την γώραν τῶν Γεργεσηνῶν, καὶ ἐξελθόντος αύτοῦ έκ τοῦ πλοίου εύθες ύπήντησεν αύτῷ έκ τῷν μνημείων ἄνθοωπος ἐν πνεύματι άκαθάσται, δε την κατοίκησην είνεν έν τοξε ανήμασην, και οιδέ άλύσει οίκεν οιδείε έδύνατο αύτὸν δήσαι, διά τὸ αύτὸν πολλάκις πέδαις καὶ άλύσσαν δεδέσθαι, καὶ διεσπάσθαι ύπ' αύτοῦ τὰς άλύσεις καὶ τὰς πέδας συντεπολήθαι, καὶ οὐδείς Ισνανν σύτὸν δαμάσαι: και διά παντός νυκτός και ήμέρας έν τοῖς μνήμασιν και έν τοῖς δροσιν ἦν κράζων και κατακόπτων έαυτὸν λίθοις, και ίδων τὸν Ίπσοῦν ἀπὸ μακρόθεν ἔδραμεν και προσεκύνησεν αύτῶ, καὶ κράξας φωνῆ μεγάλη λέγει: Τί έμοὶ καὶ σοί, Ἰησοῦ, υἰὲ τοῦ Θεού τοῦ ὑμίστου: ὑρκίζω σε τὸν Θεόν, μή με βασανίσης. Ελενεν νὰρ αὐτῷ: "Εξελθε τὸ πνεδιμα το άκάθαστον έκ τοῦ άνθρώπου, καὶ έπηρώτα αὐτόν: Τὶ ὄνομά σοι; καὶ άπεκοίθη λένει αύτδι. Λενκόν δνομά μοι, ότι πολλοί όπωςν, και παρεκάλει αύτόν πολλά ίνα μή αύτιδι άποστείλη δέω τῆς νώρας. "Ην δέ έχαϊ ποὸς τιδι δοει ἀνέλη νοίρων μενάλη Βοσκομένη και παρεκάλεσαν αύτον λένοντες: Πέμψον ήμβε είς τούς νοίρους. Ίνα είς αύτους είσελθομεν, και έπέτρεψεν αύτοῖς και έξελθόντα τὰ πνεύματα τὰ ἀκάθαρτα είσηλθον είς τούς χοίρους: και ιδρμησεν ή άγέλη κατά τοῦ κρημνοῦ είς την θάλασσαν: ώς δισχίλιοι και έπνίγοντο έν τη θαλάσση, και οί βόσκοντες αύτους έφυγον και άπηγγειλαν είς την πόλιν και είς τους άγρους: και ήλθον ίδεῖν τί έστιν το γεγονός. και έργονται πρός τόν Τησούν, και θεωρούσιν τόν δαιμονιζ όμενον καθήμενον και ίματισμένον και

οιοφονοίδεται, είνε διεχγειόται είνε λεφειόται, και δησιβήθησουν και διεχγήσειντοι αύτοιξε, εί δύδιντες καις ξεγίνεται τη διαμευγείμεθης και περεί του ζεγίνουν, και βιέχειντο παρκοκαλείν απότε άπειλοδείν άποι διείν έργιστα είνειδει, και είνειδείνεται το είναθο είς το λεύουν παρκοκάλει αύτου διαμευγείνειδες διαμετά είναιδει, ότα αυτό αθαφτενα είνειδει, Κάλλα λέχει αυτότε της είνει είναι είναιδει το και κάπειλοδει αυτότε το είναι διακτρικέν αυτότε διαμευγείνει φίλερος σε τικεί αυτότε το και διακτρίθειν και δρέμησε κεριδικείνει τη Ελεκαπάλια διου έπειδησεν επίση δι Ποποδες, και διακτρίδεται δεθετίστεδου.

They came over no the other side of the text, into the district of the Gerazenes, And when he had come out of the boot, immediately he was met by a man from the tombs, possessed by an unclean spirit. He devile among the tombs. No one was able to hind him any longer even with a chain, because he had often been bound with fetters and chains, and the chains had been broken by him and the fetters manded, and no one could subshe him. And always, right and day, he was in the mountains and among the tombs, crying out, and cutting himself with stones. Seeing Jeans from after he run and protravaled himself before him. Shouting in a loud voice he wind. "Phila herre! to alw with you, Jeans, Son of the Most High God!! adjure you by God, do not toment me." For he kept on mying to him. "Come out of the man, unclean spirits" and he asked him, "Phila is your mane"." And he may to him, "Thin it is your mane"." In the says to him, "My name it Legion, for we are many." And he strongly implored him no to east them out of the country. Now there now the mountain a great here of pige years.

feeding, and their impliented him, sorting, Nord as into the pigg, let us go in too home." And he allowed them. The unclean spirite came out and were into the pigg, and the herd ran violutely down at precipice into the sea, about two thousands of them, and they were choled in the sea. And they that fiel the pigg field and reported in the city and throughout the countryside. And people went out to see what had happened. And they come to Jesus and see the elementar, titting, clothed and in his right mind, And those who had seen what had happened had about the elementar and the pigg. And they begged him to leave their territory, and as he emberded into the boat the man who had had the elemen implemed him that he might go with him. And he did not permit him, and mys to him, "Go home to your own people and report to them what the Lord has down for you, how he had piny on you." And he went away and began to preclaim in the Decapolity what Jesus had done for him, and versyone was assentials.

The Greek Translation is from The Greek New Testament Fourth Revised Edition, edited by Barbara Aland, Kurt Aland, Johannes Karavidopoulos, Carlo M. Martini and Bruce M. Metzger, (Deutsche Bibligeselkschaft; United Bible Societies, 1993).

The English translation is my own modified version of that of Alfred Marshall, found in Samuel Bagster, Greek-English New Testament (London: Bagster and Sons, 1964). I have tried in the translation to give some indication of Mark's unique and vivid style.

1. Introduction: Method and Markan Scholarship

The rise of the historical consciousness in the modern world has had extremely

Introduction

significant ramifications for the study of the Bible. As critical ways of thinking became established towards the end of the seventeenth century the Bible came increasingly under scrutiny as a source of revealed truth. On the one hand there was the view that the Bible was a divine and holy book which must be read in a spirit of receptive devotion. On the other hand there was the argument that the Bible must be read critically. It was, after all, only one of many sacred books. The Qur'an and the Hindu scriptures, for example, could not simply be disregarded and the Bible declared to be the only source of truth. The Bible must, it was argued, be treated with a critical eye and in the same way we treat other sacred books. When we do so, it was further argued, it becomes clear that the Bible is a human historical document. It came into being in space and time and was written by humans with all their finite limitations, Moreover, the books of the Bible were declared "holy scripture" by the Church - that is, it was a decision made by humans in an historical context. Thus the historical method came to dominate biblical studies. Beginning in the late seventeenth century and stretching all the way into the present, the dominant paradigm for the study of the Bible, and hence for the New Testament, has been the historical critical one.

The first major enterprise undertaken by historical criticism of the Bible was to try

to uncover the sources behind its books. As the Bible was a book written by humans in history the question became. What are the influences upon the writer and how did they influence the writing of the documents? A sub-question of this general question became: Old the writer(s) use sources? What were they? How did they influence what the author words?

The basic idea behind source criticism of the New Testament was to uncover the sources which had been used by the Draugelists. This was not intended to be a destructive process. Rather the intent was to show how reliable the Googels were by showing that the Googel writers utilized runtweetly sources. For example, Gottleib Wilke wrote an article in 1826 in which he argued that Mark was used as a source by Matthew. Wilke's thesis has been used by subclus to show that not only was Mark written first but that his Googel was objective, although slightly unrefined, history. Therefore, when Matthew (and also Lake) used Mark they were using a reliable historical source. It soon became apparent, however, that these written sources had an oral history before they were written down. This gave rise to form criticism, the inquiry into how the oral tradition came into being and what changes it underwest during the corne of its ramensions.

One of the most famous form critics was Rudolf Bultmann. He and other form critics focused upon questions surrounding how traditions functioned within the early Christian community. They were not interested in the individual Goorel writers as such

Gettlieb Wilke, "Über die Parabel von den Arbeitern in Weinsberge, Matthe. 20, 1-16" ZWT I (1826), as reiterenced by David J.Hawkin, The Johnsonies Borlel: Reflections on the Theology of the Fourth Geopel and Contemporary Society (New York: State University of New York Press, 1996), p. 38.

but rather saw them as Summler, or collectors, of tradition. In commenting on Mark, Bultmann states unequivocally that he was not "sufficiently master of his material to venture a systematic construction himself." Mark was simply a 'recorder' of the oral traditions in circulation at the time.

It was in response to this de-emphasizing of the remitive role of the Goopel authors that reduction retriction? sprang up. Reduction criticis said that we should take into account not only the transmission of tradition within the community but also the editing (reducting) of the individual Goopel writer. When we do this we see that each Evangelist had his own particular point of view. The primary aim of reduction criticism is the uncovering off this point of view by an examination of the structure of the Goopel and its author's handling of the early Church traditions included in it.

Within reduction criticism there are two approaches. One studies the reduction by focusing on its origins, the other by cusmining its overall design. The difference between the different approaches reflects different emphases. The first highlights the distinctive character of the reduction — what sets it apart from its predecessors. The second looks at the reductor's total theology, including, as well as differences, features shared with the roductor's total theology, including, as well as differences, features shared with the roductor's found the reductor's reductors.

² Rudolph Bultmann, The History of the Symoptic Tradition (Oxford: Blackwell, 1968), as quoted by Hawkin, The Johannine World: Reflections on the Theology of the Fourth Gospel and Contemporary Societies, 140.

³ The English translation of Redeltiousgeschichte, a phease coined by German scholar Willi Marxsen.
⁴ See E. Haenchen, Der Weg Jesu. Eine Erklärung des Markus-Evangeliums und der Kononishen Parallelos Betlin: Tistelman, 1966).

is used to deserble the latter approach. Composition criticism is 'a holistic variation of reduction criticism in which the work itself . . . viewed rigorously and persistently in its entirety, becomes the primary contract for interpreting any part of it." It is very close to literary criticism. Of course, there are differences from literary criticism in that the purpose is historical to find the authors theology and in the process learn more about the theological history of Christianity, Rodaction criticism helps us move from the theological position of the l'avageties to the historical situation which gave rise to that theological position. One strand of reduction criticism does this by focussing on how the total design of the navarative illuminates the onion of view of the Evapuellist. As Bobert Proviet rave.

As a piece of literature, the Gospel has an integrity, a certain wholeness is it which ashould be acknowledged by those who interpret it. It is a fault error to move from the standard action that the Gospel tradition originally circulated as individual sayings and stories to the conclusion that the Gospels are simply collected pieces with no great coherence. The whole is more than the sum of its parts. The Gospels do in fact display unity and coherence, but that can be seen if one entertains the probability of a holistic approach to them and avoids an overly fragmented pericops-by-preferoge anding of the texts. Only by approaching the Gospels as literary works, i.e., as integral wholes, can we see how all the individual pieces fit

together to make a whole.6

⁵ Stephen D. Moore, Literary Criticism and the Gospel: The Theoretical Challenge (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1989), n. 4.

⁵ Robert Fowler, Loaves and Fishes: The Function of the Feeding Stories in the Gospel of Mark (Chico, California: Scholars Press, 1981), p. 40-41.

The approach taken in this thesis is to follow the lead of Fowler and others and to treat Mark as a whole, coherent nutrative written by someone who knew what he was doing. The reader must accordingly treat Mark's work as a complete nutrative with a structure and plot. The story of the Grancene demoniae (Mark S-120), it will be atmock in an important part of the structure and plot. Moreover, there are political and social elements in the story that provide limight into the setting of the nutrative, he time in which Jesus lived and provide information about the period in which the auther and his suadicese lived. Yet further, insights into the meaning of the story may be gained by understanding the proychological dynamics within it. I hope to show that applying psychological and political reading strategies to Mark 5:1-20 is very illuminating and helps us to see more clearly the many-faceted nature of the naturative. Not only do I hope to demonstrate that the story of Legion is quite integral to the structure and story-line of Mark but I will also show that there are Features of the naturative which have not been fully appreciated, such as the fact that Mark's description of the psychological state of the

"demoniac" is more a social and political comment than a statement about his mental

health

Recent Approaches to the Study of Mark

(a) Psychology and Biblical Studies

W. H. Andem once said of Sigmund Fread, "It is no more a person now but a whole climate of opinion." In this comment Andem captures perfectly the significance of Fread. Fread has changed our thinking to such an extent that today it is difficult to imagine what the world of thought was like before him. Fread was born into a world of lunatic asylums and "bediams" where those who behaved violently or strangely were locked away, often in the most borrible and inhumate conditions. There was no understanding of why they behaved so aberrantly. The main consideration was to keep them away from the public by locking them up and sometimes retarning them with shackles. It was Freed's great accomplishment that be changed the way we deal with such people. After Freud, people who behaved in a neurotic and irrational way were treated as people who could be cared. They were not seen as possessed by demost or suffering from strange incarable physical maladies. They were treated as mentally ill people who could be cared by a thorough-sering understanding of how the mind worker.

Freat's theories about the unconscious mind are well known today. Indeed, as Auden intimated, they have become part of our mental furniture. We have accepted that the roots of mental illness lie in the mind itself. The very phrase "mental illness' demonstrates how much our way off thicking has chanced since nee-Freatfan dues. We

From W.H. Auden's poem "In Memory of Sigmand Freud" in Another Time (New York: Random House, 1940), p. 104.

accept that there is a category "mental illness," and that mentally ill people require understanding and their condition requires thorough analysis. Thus, despite the success of Hollywood movies such as The Eneroist, in our post-Freudian world the notion that psychosis is due to demon possession is no longer an accepted assumption. Psychoses spring from within the mind itself. They are not the result of outside, demonic forces. So the stories of demon possession in the New Testament pose a problem. If there really is no such thing as demon possession in the New Testament pose a problem. The really is no such thing as demon possession, does this mean that we have to disregard what the New Testament says on this matter? Jesus clearly speaks of demon possession and casts out demons and encourages his followers to do the same. The Symoptic Gospels' speak of a Jesus who appears to believe that the power of demons over humans was the cause of illness.

Once can respond to this problem in various ways. One can say that I seas was a man of his time. It is natural that, like his contemporaries, he should believe in demon possession. The more religiously conservative may, however, claim that Jesus actually knew better than to believe in demons but had to "play along" with the beliefs of the time. As the great New Testament scholar C. H. Dodd put in "He could not have spoken so effectively to be time of the had not rosed not its terms."

On this second understanding of the matter Jesus knew that demons do not exist.

His healing of the demon possessed would not therefore be simple miracles of casting out

The Gospel of John does not have any exorcisms.

C.H. Dodd. The Asshories of the Rible (London: Nishet & Co. Ltd. 1955). p. 237.

demons. They would rather demonstrate the healing power of a Jesus who knew better than to think that the cause of the strange behaviour of so-called demoniacs was because they were possessed by a demon. Rather, Jesus knew that the problem lay in the mind itself. In this view, Jesus is the Great Psychologist, able to analyze the problem and cure the "rathers" two non-onlysical means.

A fascinating example of this approach is found in the work of Leslie D. Weatherhead. Weatherhead was a Methodist clergyman and one of the pioneers of pastoral psychology. He wrote more than thirty books and in his most famous one, Psychology, Religious and Healing, "the discusses the healing of the Geresene demonits."

The story of the Genesone domoniae, says Woutherhead, shows how Jesus "altered his treatment to suit the patient" and "look great pains to sunderstand the care" (emphases added). It from the care of his discussion it is obvious that Wortherbead scess least as the Great Psychologist who "spent the greater part of the night (with the Genesone domoniae) in the most careful disgnosis and treatment." During this time Jesus carefully probes and searches for the cause of the demoniae's strange behaviour. For Jesus kept on suging to him, "Come out of him, undenn spicial" (M. 3.5). But this first attempt at healing the man does not work. The man does not respond to what Weatherbead calls "suggestion". The psychosis is to deeply embedded. So Jesus switches tack. It eaks the man for his name, to ask for someonic, name is to seek room over our them, work.

Leslie D. Weatherhead, Psychology, Religion and Healing (Nashville: Abingdon, 1951).

Weatherhead, Psychology, Religion and Healing, p. 53.
Weatherhead, Psychology Religion and Healing, p. 53.

Weatherhead. In the famous story in Genesis 32 where the man (sometimes referred to as "an angest? weretles with Jacob, he is asked for his name by the man. Jacob gives it. But when Jacob task for the name of the man he is given no response. The man, having power over Jacob, can demand his name. But Jacob, having no power over the man, cannot demand his name. Similarly, Jesus is asking for the name of the power which dominates the man and in doing so is himself trying to gain power over it. The man replies, "My name is I cagion". The man's response is the key to understanding the illness. Weatherhead explains:

During the First World War amm was found in no-man's land, wundering about between our trenches and those of the enemy, and the only word he could say was "Arras." This was the town in which the had been tortured to make him impart information, and the torture had driven him mad. Similarly, I remember the case of a man in a mental hospital during the First World War who had been tortured by the Germans, and the only word he would utter was the word "Boche's. Here, in St. Mark's store, we have a man mattering the word "Legion," and it is not funciful to suppose that he had suffered some shook at the hands of the Roman Egion. We know from the story of the massacre of the innocents the kind of thing the Roman Legion. The had seen time children shaughtered, and had rushed in from the superstreet terrified of the agreeaching soldiers whose swords were dripping real with blood, and had cried, "Munmy, Munmy, legion" (if we may modernise his blood, and had cried, "Munmy, Munmy, legion" (if we may modernise his blood, and had cried, "Munmy, Munmy, legion" (if we may modernise his

language), then it would be no flight of imagination to suppose that the childhood's shock — especially if the patient had a herefitary emotional unbalance — it would be quites ufficient to drive him into psychosic. And now the community had eciled the patient right out of the security of their own fellowship into a wild graveyard in a foreign land, where he is left to live amongst the pigs, terrified by spanns of fror which leap up from his repressed memories into consciousness, and express themselves in maniacal fluories and in load cries. ¹⁰

By revealing his name the man thus reveals why he is acting so abnormally. The recognition of the origins of his psychosis leads to a great cuthursis, accompanied by shricks and cries, frightening a herd of pigs nearby which then stampede into the sea. The man is cured, and found the next morning "clothed and in his right mind" by those who had been residine to the risks.

Weatherhead's interpretation is not only a wonderful example of rationalism at work, but it also illustrates the idea that we should simply think of the demon possessed as mentally ill and Jesus as the great healer. The emphasis is on historicizing the interaction between Jesus and the Genessee demoniac. There is no discussion of, or recognition of, the function of the Genessee demoniac story within the wider nurrative. Such an interpretation is essentially reductionistic, failing to recognize the complexities and subdicties of nurrative structure and design. It reduces the story to a simple tale about Jesus curing a mentally ill man. But the nurrative is about more than mental illness, and "Wasterbast, Protokolous Relations and Section 25.5".

certainly about more than the root causes of the Gerasene demoniac's behaviour.

More recently scholars interested in psychology and the bible have offered more sophisticated interpretations than that of Weatherhead. Scholars such as Wayne Rollins have emphasized that psychology has much to contribute to the way we understand the whole narrative, and especially the interaction between reader and text. In the so-called hermeneutical circle of reader and text, the reader brings certain assumptions to the text.14 The assumptions are then brought into question by the reading of the text, and are revised accordingly. With each reading we therefore learn more about ourselves and the world of the text. The relationship between reader and text is therefore a dynamic one, where understanding is ever becoming more differentiated. Rollins emphasizes that psychology helps us to understand the nature of this differentiation. When we study a text there are, as it were, two levels to our understanding of the text. The first is what he calls the text's "psychic constitution," that is, the latent content of a text which is, as such, consciously inaccessible to the author and his or her community. The second he calls the text's "psychic function." By this he means the effect on the psyche of the reader. We thus have to understand what we are looking for. In order to evaluate the latent content of a text it must first be contextualized. This does involve an examination of historical questions, and Rollins recognizes this. But. nevertheless. Rollins does seem to be more interested in the "psychic function" of the text and sees its primary function to be a mirror which reflects the workings of the psyche.

Wayne G. Rollins, Soul and Psyche: The Bible in Psychological Perspective (Minneapolis: Fortress bases 1900)

This certainly is the view of Diarmuid McGann, McGann's study of the Gospel of Mark in The Journeying Self: The Gospel of Mark through a Jungian Perspective15 utilizes a psychological approach as he applies aspects of the theories developed by Carl Jung to the Gospel of Mark. According to McGann, the Gospel is "essential to knowing who we are as a people"16 and as individuals. The "layers" of the self are a central aspect of the thought of Carl Jung. Jung saw that there were three interacting lavers in the psychological make up of a human being. First, there is the conscious self, that which we are aware of, while the unconscious is that of which we are not aware and can be divided into two aspects which results in three layers. In simplified terms, the unconscious is made up of the personal that refers to our personal repressed history, and the collective, which refers to the history of humanity that has left a mark on individuals on a psychological as well as physical level. Jung acknowledges that a person is made of the known and unknown that must come together in the search for wholeness. This tension between opposites and the need for wholeness is at the center of Jung's psychological theories. According to McGann, there is a similar tension at work in the Gospel of Mark.

McGam's interpretation of the story of the Gerasene demoniac draws explicitly on Jung's psychoanalytical theory: McGam connects Jung's theory of the persona to the demoniac. The theory states that people develop a facade, called a persona, that acts as a mask that protests people and influences how people present themselves to the wider

Diarmuid McGann, The Journeying Self: The Gospel of Mark Through a Jungian Perspective (New York: Paulist Press, 1985).

McGunn, The Journeying Self: The Gospel of Mark Through a Jungian Perspective, p. 9.

world that is socially acceptable." With the development of the persona comes the zhadow, which is the underside of the persons. As the pressou is more strongly identified, the shadow becomes stronger as most of the elements of our personality are found in the shadow. The shadow is unconscious, beneath the surface, and people are not source of its existence. The shadow is composed of feelings, impulses and undencies that are deemed unacceptable when they arise. These emotions and impulses are not always negative; some positive attributes can be pushed aside to the shadow. The shadow allows people to judge, hate, and condems while maintaining a sense of rightneounness. According to Jung's theory the larger the about on the present of rightneounness. The shadow can also be projected outward and encountered.

In the story of the Gerstene demoniac Jesus goes into an unknown area to reach out to the Gentiles. The area and the demoniac are described in dark terms, living among the tombs and unable to be controlled. The description holds a possibility of anger and danger. The pigs that are present nearby are seen as a desirable place for the demons to go. The pigs can also be seen as representation of the collective unconscious that is port of Jung's theory. The demon represents the shadow which when projected outward unto the pigs is dangerous and destructive, as the pigs run off a cliff after receiving the Legion. ²⁰ McCann finishes his analysis of the story of the Genesice demoniac by another by acciding the

¹⁷

McGann, The Journeying Self: The Gospel of Mark Through a Jungian Perspective, p. 72.
 McGann, The Journeying Self: The Gospel of Mark Through a Jungian Perspective, p. 75.

McGann, The Journeying Self: The Gospel of Mark Through a Jungian Perspective, p. 76.

McGann, The Journeying Solf: The Gospel of Mark Through a Jungian Perspective, p. 77.

psychological aspects of the story to the lives of modern readers.

Rollins is to be commended for recognizing that psychological studies must be located in a breader spectrum of inquiry. The psychological insights into the story of the Gerasene demoniac by Weatherhead and McGann, however, have to be seen as ultimately unsufficiently. Weatherhead's interpretation is too rationalistic and takes too little account of the dynamics of the whole of the Markan narrative. McGann's theory is ideally suited to the "New Age" but, as such, is too individualistic. It fails to see the social and political aspects of the narrative. Others, however, have stressed the importance of political and social scientific studies in illuminating our understanding of the Markan story, and in particular, Mark's story of the Gerasene demoniac. It is to some of those studies that we

(b) Politics and Religion

Political approaches to Mark's text have provided insights into the political situation in Palestine in the first century as a part of the Roman Empire. Such approaches allow the reader to gain insights into the political situation at the time of Jesus and his ministry. the situation at the time Mark was written, and the situation of the andience.

Richard Horsley writes on the politics of Mark's Goopel in Hearing the Whole Story: Politics of Plan in Mark's Goopel. Horsley uses sociological methods to show that Mark is a story of how Jesus challenged the dominant social order of his day, Horsley approaches the Goopel as a complete story and not as a collection of stories and incidents. He claims that to read the Gospel as a series of separate incidents reduces the impact of the narrative and even blocks access to the story.²³ Incidery suggests reading the Gospel in a similar manner as short novels which have considerable outliet and drama. We still, of course, have to acknowledge that the text has changed over time and may have originated as an oral story that would have been recited by a performer. To fully appreciate the Gospel it has to be understood as the product of what Horsley refers to as interpretive communities. An interpretive communities. An interpretive communities are usually the groups which make the text available, whether they are religious groups or scholarly groups, and these groups can hold extensive influence over how a text is understood by society.

While Honley approaches the Goopel as a nurrative, he does not rely on literary or narrative criticism. Literary criticism focuses on character development in the text, while Horsely contends the characters in the text do not develop, but just serve a purpose to move along the plot. Literary criticism also applies modern assumptions to the text. Horsely does not seek to apply universal philosophical concepts to Mark. Narrative criticism token Mark as primarily a religious text.²⁰ For Honley, the text is a story about Jesus as a heater and political leader and even the opponents of Jesus are portunyed in political leader and even the opponents of Jesus are portunyed in political leader and even the opponents of Jesus are portunyed in political leader. Mark, as a nurrative, is symbolic of social communication that rereseases.

²¹ Richard Horsley, Hearing the Whole Story: The Politics of Plot in Mark's Gospel (Westminster John Know Press: Louisville, 2001), p. 2

Hoesley, Hearing the Whole Story: The Politics of Plot in Mark's Gospel, p. 4.
 Hoesley, Hearing the Whole Story: The Politics of Plot in Mark's Gospel, p. 7.

and interprets the experience, worldview and social-political-religious agenda of a particular people.24 To fully understand the complete story of Mark's Gospel, its politics must be understood and its plotting, characterization and setting are part of its rhetoric.

Historical context is also important to understanding the entire story of Mark. The text cannot be interpreted in isolation from its historical situation. It is important to understand the history behind the text to fully appreciate it or the text will be viewed in a distorted way. The historical situation of the text is necessary for understanding the situations the text was responding to, the situation that produced the text, as the events narrated in the text as well as innuendos, nuances and implications made in the text.25

Horsley states that biblical texts cannot be considered solely religious texts as they are political as well. The texts should be recognized as literature about a people subjected by the Roman Empire. In a modern postcolonial world, says Horsley, it should be possible to understand Mark's text as a story about a counter colonial movement among peasants in Galilee and surrounding area. Rereading the text should enable us to discern whether the text actually addressed subjected people and gave voice to their concerns.36 The text should give information about the life of the ancient Galileans as the subjects of an Empire.

There are several aspects that are given in the story which show that it is about a

²⁴ Horsley, Hearing the Whole Story: The Politics of Plot in Mark's Gospel, p. 10. 25 Horslev. Hearing the Whole Story: The Politics of Plot in Mark's Gospel, p. 25.

²⁶ Horsley, Hearing the Whole Story: The Politics of Plot in Mark's Gospel, p. 30.

village based notial movement. Jesus teaches to larger groups or communities instead of individuals. Jesus performs his healings, exorcisms and teachings in the presence of large gathered assemblies, such as his first exorcism at the synagogue in Capenaum (Mark 1: 21-28). Jesus spread his movement among, many communities and Jesus personally travels to different villages in the area of Galilee and the surrounding Gentile areas. He sends the twelve disciples on missions to teach and perform healings in his name to villages throughout the area. According to Horsley, this indicates a broad program of outrach and movement.²⁷

Jesus never enters a city in Galilee. There are two major cities in the area and Jesus appears to avoid them. Sephoris is a few miles from Nuzareth, Jesus's hometown, and Therias is near Capemann. The cities were relatively new, having being built by Horod Antipas and would have been viewed with resonment as the cities represented the presence of the Romans in the area. Even when Jesus moves beyond Galilee into the surrounding Gentile areas, he avoids major cities, only stopping at the villages that surround the cities?

Mark presents Jesus as leading a popular movement that had religious aspects in the teachings, healings and exorisms he performed. Mark also reveals that the religious the teachings healings and exorisms he performed opposition to the rulers and ruling institutions. "Jesus" opposition to the dominant system is made clear by Mark when Jesus the dominant system is the dominant system is made clear by Mark when Jesus the dominant system is the dominant system is made clear by Mark when Jesus the dominant system is the dominant system is made clear by Mark when Jesus the dominant system is the d

Horsley, Hearing the Whole Story: The Politics of Plot in Mark's Gospel, p. 40.

Hoesley, Hearing the Whole Story: The Politics of Plot in Mark's Gospel, p. 41.
 Hoesley, Hearing the Whole Story: The Politics of Plot in Mark's Gospel, p. 41.

[&]quot;Horsley, Hearing the Whole Story: The Politics of Plot in Mark's Gospel, p.

arrives in Jerusalem. He drives the sellers and moneychangers out of the temple (Mark 11:15-18), shares the parable of the Wicked Tenants (Mark 12:1-12) and predicts the destruction of the temple (Mark 13:1-8). These actions were considered revolutionary by the authorities, as the Temple was the central religious and political institution of the area.³⁸ Mark gives these actions as the reason Jesus was condemed by the priests at his trial.

Mark also presents Jesus as an authority figure who is unlike others. In the beginning of the Gosped, Jesus is shown to have authority and power that the people have not seen before. Jesus was a manifestation of a Kingdom that was completely different from the established one. This is also as threat to the authorities as the people respond to Jesus, such as when he performs his first exocrism and the people are unazed by it (Mark. 12.1-28). The authorities capture Jesus and he is executed, but the movement continues following his death. Jesus died as a marry for the movement, "which according the ending of the story, continues among the villages of Gaillee led by Jesus' followers, under the direction of a rises Jesus.

According to Horsley, Mark is best understood if modern readers identify with the historical audience in context, or at least become knowledgeable about the historical communities in which the story was performed, as well as the people whom the story is about. This will allow the modern reader to emunities with the historical audience. An

Horsley, Hearing the Whole Story: The Politics of Plot in Mark's Gospel, p. 41.

Horsley, Hearing the Whole Story: The Politics of Plot in Mark's Gospel, p. 41.
 Horsley, Hearing the Whole Story: The Politics of Plot in Mark's Gospel, p. 42.

Thermy, Thermy the Wilse Story. The Following File Wilsews Googles, p.

understanding of the context of the historical audience allows the modern reader to begin to share the common meaning and mannees of words, cultural conventions, historical experiences, and historical world views that are drantically different from the modern world.²⁰

Modern assumptions often uncensciously determine how we read a text. The Western notion of individualism, for example, influences the reading of the text, usually leading to a persistent interpretation of Mark being a story about disciplenship. This interpretation obscures the oppressive political and economies islantation as well as the breader political struggle of Jenus and his followers.³⁴ For Horsley this focus on disciplenship is not in keeping with the dominant conflict in the story. The main conflict is focused on Jenus and his movement of renewal of the people of Irracl, not the disciples. The main opposition is between village peasant and the Roman rulers, who were oppressors of the people.³

Horsley, Hearing the Whole Story: The Politics of Plot in Mark's Gospel, p. 77.

Horsley, Hearing the Whole Story: The Politics of Plot in Mark's Gospel, p. 77.
Horsley, Hearing the Whole Story: The Politics of Plot in Mark's Gospel, p. 77.

menny, managine a non-may. The rotates of rotal materia Golper, p

(c) Social Science and the Understanding of Mark

Paul Hollenbach uses methods from the social sciences in his study of exorcism and demon possession in Mark's Gospel. A social scientific approach sees exocurism and demon possessions as a common worthwide plenomena that has occurred throughout history." This historical view of exorcisms allows a different understanding to develop in which the role of exoccisms in Jesus' ministry is the focus of study. By studying exocurism in this way, we come to an understanding of the way exorcisms fit into Jesus' career.

There are some studies from the social sciences which may be used to study Mark's story about Jenus. Descriptive theories allow for a more comprehensive picture of what life in first century. Pilestine was like. Theoretical studies provide information regarding the social structures and social dynamics of the time.¹⁹ In social scientific studies of Mark exorcisms figure prominently. Especially in Mark exorcisms are an integral part of the narrative and it is these very exorcisms which draw the negative attention and hostility of the authorities. Descriptive and theoretical social scientific studies illuminate why this is so.

From the social sciences come five categories that are relevant to the understanding of demon possession and exorcisms that can be used to understand exorcisms in the bible and Palestine in the first century. The categories include criteria for

³⁶ Paul W. Hollenbach, "Jesus, Demoniacs and the Public Authorities: A Socio-Historical Approach" in the Assertance of the American Academy of Publisher (Vol. 49, No. 4, 1983), p. 567.

Hollenbach, "Jesus, Demoniacs and Public Authorities," p. 568.

identifying demoniacs, causes of demoniac possession, living conditions of demoniacs the treatment of demoniacs, and the consequences of their healing.38 The criteria that are used to identify a person as a demoniac are social constructions that appear in different cultures in varied forms. In first century Palestine, the criteria included a radically divided self: there is an awareness of the demons as a separate entity yet part of the person being possessed.39 This division could vary in severity as in the case of the Gerasene demoniac who is described as being possessed by a Legion of demons. Strange behaviour is another way of identifying a demoniac. The possessed person can participate in destructive behaviour or mild antisocial behaviour that could be seen as evidence of demon possession. The symptoms were caused by the presence of a demon, but the reasons why a demon would possess a particular individual do not seem to be a concern in ancient society. In first century Judaism the cause of demon possession was perceived to be sinwhich seems to be similar to other cultures 43 The living conditions of demoniacs varied depending on their situation. Many demoniacs lived and were cared for by family members. Demonines who were not violent had freedom to go to public places. Violent demoniace were usually restrained in some way while those who were impossible to control were often ostracized and lived alone in deserts or cemeteries and were uncared for by society.41 There was a large need for cures for demon possession and there were many healers that offered their services by establishing themselves in one community or

Hollenbach, "Jesus, Demoniacs and Public Authorities," p. 570.
 Hollenbach, "Jesus, Demoniacs and Public Authorities," p. 570.

Hollenbach, "Jesus, Demoniacs and Public Authorities," p. 571.

⁴¹ Hollenbach, "Jesus, Demoniacs and Public Authorities," p. 571.

traveiling through an area. There were many different types of healers with exorcists being one kind. There was much competition between exorcists, usually based on class distinctions and jealously. When demoniacs were cared, it resulted in strong reactions from the community. Reactions included anazement and fear among the spectators, and often the desire to follow the bealer on the part of the healed person. The negative reactions included hostility toward the healer and even rejection of the healer, which can be seen in the Gospel accounts of Jesua' corretions."

Demon possession could be caused or made worse by social tensions. Class antagonism caused by conomic exploitation, conflicts between traditions, and colonial domination and revolution are commonly accepted social tensions that contributed to demon possession. Where these confidings exist there appears to be an increase in the number of cases of mental illness or demon possession. There existed in Palestine an opposition between the effice social groups, such as the Sudaheees and Pharinees, and the oppressed groups such as zealots and the peasant class." The pressure of the social tension could lead to an increase in themon possessions.

Demon possession can also be seen as a form of social protest or escape from the

Hollenbach, "Jesus, Demonius and Public Authorities," p. 571.
 Hollenbach, "Jesus, Demonius and Public Authorities," p. 571.

Hollenbuch, "Jesus, Demoniacs and Public Authorities," p. 571.
 Hollenbuch, "Jesus, Demoniacs and Public Authorities," p. 573. Hollenbuch illustrates this point by

looking to France Fanon's study of Algeria, which experienced similar conditions under expressive containlism on Patients del in the first country, in the case of Algeria, metal librars was reamificated as present against the dehumanizing aspects of imperialism. According to Fanon, mental librars functioned and control of the Algeria and Communicacy, but also functioned as appaloalogy in the atmosphere of total war. Hellenbach, p. 578, from France Fanon, The Wertched of the Earth (New York: Bullstarins, 1963).

⁴⁵ Hollenbach, "Jesus, Demoniacs and Public Authorities," p. 575.

social situation that people were living in. In Palestine in the first century, the oppression the masses experienced as subjects of the Roman Empire would have resulted in cases of demon possession that served as a form of protest and escape.46 Demon possession becomes a symptom of stress caused by social conditions. It also serves a way of dealing with the stress in an economical way that avoids social catastrophe. This means of protest can be seen in various cultures and social situations. Possession may have acted as a sort of 'fix' for people who had no other way of coping with the social and political conditions that they could not control. "The Gerasene demoniac can be seen as an example of this form of protest in the Palestinian context, as his story contains many allusions to Roman oppression and its effects on the community.

control used by the dominant classes. Such accusations allowed the dominant class to exercise control over the dominated masses.48 The dominant classes also controlled the definition of what was considered mental illness and what was perceived as healing. Accusations could be made against anyone who challenged the status quo and threatened the nosition of those in the elite groups. Such accusations of illness, demon possession and witchcraft increased in times of social unrest and instability. This negative classification works in a similar way as using possession as a form of protest. The weaker

An accusation of mental illness or demon possession was also a form of social

Hollenbach "Jesus Demonios and Public Authorities" n. 575. Hollenbach, "Jesus, Demoniacs and Public Authorities," p. 576. Hollenbach compares the situation in Palestine in the first century with Erika Bourguignon's description of the situation in Haiti. See Erika Bourguignon, Possession (San Francisco: Chandler and Sharp, 1976).

⁴ Hollenbach, "Jesus, Demoniacs and Public Authorities," p. 577.

members of society seek salvation by possession and the stronger groups seek salvation by their ostracism of weaker groups. Both groups use demon possession to protest the other." This dynamic as been noticed in all categories of societies around the world and throughout history. Therefore is it possible that this dynamic would occur in Palestine in the first century and influence how the authorities reasted to Jesus' excercisms. Mark tells us that Jesus himself was accused of being possessed by a demon (Mark 3:22-30), when he is seen as overstepping the bounds of his role as an excertist. The accusation could have been an attention to the eart of the authorities to assert their counts.

in first century Palestine, which can contribute to a fuller understanding of Jesua' ministry in the area, particularly his role as an exorcist. Demon possession was a form of social accommodation for the conditions of the time. Such accommodation was common in the Hellenist period, during which political and economic domination and exploitation as well as threatened traditional culture and beliefs were common. Demon symbolism allowed the oppressed to express their anger towards the social system and the authorities to maintain their social positions and subdue those who protested against the oppressors."

Modern social sciences can lead to the development of an understanding of society

In The Scapegoat, René Girard applies his theory of mimetic desire and the scapegoat mechanism to the bible. Mimetic desire, which is played out through imitation, is the underlying cause behind most forms of conflict. Persecutions are at the root of

Hollenbuch, "Jesus, Demonines and Public Authorities," p. 577.

Hollenbach, "Jesus, Demoniacs and Public Authorities," p. 580.

Girards' interpretation of biblical texts. To understand persecution texts, Girard encourages readers to approach the text with mistrust. Stereotypes are common in persecution texts. Readers must be aware of these stereotypes and be able to recognize and describe them.

Girant outlines several streatypes of persecution that appear in texts. He is mostly concerned with persecution that occur at times of crisis, when normal social institutions that prevent large-scale persecution have been weakened or replaced by a system that persecute members of the acciety. ³⁰ As cultures become less differentiated in times of crisis weaker subcultures are often eclipsed. This can cause people to feel powerless when presented with an eclipse of their culture in the light of a crisis. This results in the breakdown of relationships which leads to a pattern of placing blame on others or society as a whole. Another group can be seen as being helpful the crisis and is then accused of serious crimes that attack the foundation of the culture and families. These crimes can include violents, excual and religious crimes. ⁵⁰ A small group is usually the target of the accounts on as a section as being responsible for the crisis that is the background for the cervations.

The victims of such accusations and blame are generally randomly selected. There are times when a group of victims is selected because they belong to a class that is susceptible to persecution and crimes committed are less important. Groups that were

René Girard, The Scapegoat (Baltimore: The John Hopkins University Press, 1986), p. 12.
 Girard, The Scapegoat (Baltimore: The John Hopkins University Press, 1986), p. 12.

frequently targeted are minorities that tend to nolarize the majority such as ethnic and religious groups. Minorities are generally poorly integrated into or distinct from the mainstream society.53 Physical reasons contribute to the selection of victims of persecution along with the cultural and religious. Such conditions as illness, mental problems, genetic deformities, and disabilities can become a reason for persecution.54 Even if victims are selected for social, cultural or religious reasons the persecutors may even attribute illness or disability on the group to ensure that society is polarized against the selected victims. The selection of the victims does not result in their difference in the social system but their difference outside the system. The difference outside the system is terrifying for those within the system as the shortcomings, fragility and mortality of the system can be revealed.55

placed on them. The biblical texts contain many examples of scapegoats. Scapegoating has an unconscious nature, so that persecutors are generally unaware that their actions have resulted in the creation of a scapegoat. All differences that may be noticed among a group are polarized onto a victim in a crisis of mimetic conflict.56 While unconscious tendencies are not explicitly mentioned in the biblical texts, there are allusions to it. Jesus on the cross prays to God to forgive the people because they don't know what they are

Victims come to serve as scanegoats having responsibility for social problems

¹¹ Girard, The Scapepour, p. 17.

⁵⁴ Girand, The Somewort, p. 18.

²⁵ Girard. The Sounepout, p. 21. David Scott Arnold "Hidden Since the Foundation of the World" Girard Turner and Turn Muthic Readings," in The Daemoniac Imagination: Biblical Text and Secular Story, edited by Robert Detweiler and William G. Dory. (Atlanta: Scholars Press, 1990), p. 142.

doing (Luke 23: 34).³³ According to Girard's interpretation of this part of the text, the people should be forgiven for sacrificing Jesus as a scapegoat because they don't know what they are doing.

Honley, Hollenbach, and Girard have all expanded our horizons by showing us the many different ways we can approach the study of Mark and, in particular, the study of the Gerasene demoniae. It is now time to examine the text of Mark to see how some of their insights may be applied.

³³ Girard, The Scapegout, p. 110.

2. The Gerasene Demoniac

Exorcisms in the Gospel of Mark

Exoccisms play an important role in the Goopel of Mark and are important in understanding the full dimensions of Mark's story of Jeaus. Mark contains several accounts of Jeaus performing; cororisms and, significantly, Jeaus' first minate in Mark was an exorcion, in which Jeaus drives an unclean spirit out of a man in the synagogue in Capernaum on the Sabbath (Mark: 1:21-28). This event not only marked the beginning of Jeaus' public ministry, it also shows that Jeaus was a different kind of teacher. According to Mark, Jeaus was a stocher with authority unlike the other trachers of the time. Jeaus' authority was used that even spirits listented to him. Jeaus also performed minecles outside the region of Galilee, going to the surrounding Gentile areas. The exorcism of the Legion is the primary example of this activity in Gentile areas. The exorcism stories show, among other things, that bealing was an important part of Jeaus' ministry and that his work and teachings were available to both Jeaus and Gentiles.

Exorciam stories in the Gospel of Mark serve to show, on a manifest level, that Jesus was a compassionate teacher and healer. But there are also latent political and religious motifs in these stories as well. The religious motifs serve to show that Jesus was the Messiah and fulfilled prophesies that appear in the Jewish religious texts. The poolitical elementer reveal what the social situation of Jesus' time was like as well as the situation of Mark's andience. Executions, moreover, have a political function in the narratives of Mark for they reveal much about the role of demoniacs in the society of the

To fully understand how exorcists and exorcisms were viewed in Palestine in the first century, it is necessary to understand what was considered to be an exorcism. Graham Tweleftree provides a definition in his historical study of Jesus' activities as an exorcisit:

Exorcism was a form of healing used when demons or evil spirits were thought to have entered a person and to be responsible for sickness and was the attempt to control and cast out or expel evil spiritual beings or demons from people.¹⁸

This definition attempts to limit exorcisms to how they may have been understood during the first century in Palestinia, and by the Gospel author. The understanding of exorcisms, at the time of Jesus would have been known by the writers of the Gospel as it has been established by form critics that the Gospels are rooted in oral and written traditions that were available to them.³⁷ The traditional Palestinian understanding may, however, have been modified and amplified by the Gospel writers for their own specific purposes.

The first miracle account in Mark, the exercism in the synagogue, sets the tone of Mark's story of Jesus' ministry in which Jesus is an authoritative, yet compassionate

Gesham Tweleftree, Jesus the Exercist: A Contribution to the Study of the Historical Jesus (Peabody, Mars: Hendrickson Publishers, 1993), p.13.

Mass: Hetterickson Publishers, 1993), p.13.
 Tweleffree, Jerse the Exercist: A Contribution to the Study of the Historical Jerse, p. 55.

teacher. The event occurs on the Subbath in the synapsages in Capernaum. Jeans is not a teacher like the Jewish serihes (Mark 1.22), because Jesus possesses an authority which is unavailable to the scribes that also amazes the people who are present to winess the exorcism. This sets the stage for conflict with the Jewish authorities that continues throughout the Gospel. Mark links Jesus' activities as an exorcist to his activities as a teacher, who had new teachings and a different form of authority that contributed to his fame."

The authority that Jesus possesses, as shown in the ecorciums, makes Jesus a unique figure. He is also presented in the Googels as fulfilling prophecy, Many of the behalings and econciums presented in the Googels are to show that Jesus' ability to do such things were the subject of Old Testament prophecies." This connection to prophecy illuminates further the significance of the person of Jesus. The connection to prophecy illuminates further the significance of the person of Jesus. The connection to prophecy illuminates further the significance of the person of Jesus. The connection to prophecy illuminates further than a superior of the person of Jesus. The connection to prophecy which was to initiate the Kingshom of Ord and forgive sines." Although the executions were demonstrations of the authority Jesus possessed for his mission, viewing these activities as purely demonstrative acts is to miss the "original context and super of Jesus' healings which had radical potential, social and optical dynamics that were missed in their day." The radical nature of Jesus' actions can be seen in the people he helped, who

¹⁰ Tweleftree, Jesus the Exercist: A Contribution to the Study of the Historical Jesus, p. 59.

Keith Warrington, Jesus the Healer: Paradigm or Unique Phenomenon (Carlisle, UK: Paternoster Press, 2002) – 2

Warrington, Jesus the Healer: Paradigm or Unique Phenomenon, p. 3.

M. Percy, "Christ the Healer: Modern Healing Movements and the Imperative for the Poor," SWC 1.2 (1995) 122, moded in Warrington. Joseph the Modern Paradions of Unions Photographysis n. 4

were mostly social outcasts. In the Gospel of Mark, Gentiles were also included in this group as in the case of the Gerasene demoniac and the daughter of the Syrophoenician woman (Mark 7:24-30).

The exorcisms and healings performed by Jesus thus serve several nurposes. These events were important aspects of Jesus' ministry, initiating as they did the Kingdom of God. Mark presents the exorcism accounts as signs that Jesus was to establish God's earthly reign. The exorcisms and healings bring restoration that holds a promise of the coming Kingdom. In Mark, exorcisms show that the Kingdom is available to all neonle. therefore Jesus is shown to move around the area of Galilee and into the Gentile regions rather than staying in one place, performing exorcisms and healing the sick.⁶⁴ Since Jesus' mission was focussed on the initiation of the Kingdom, the healings and exorcisms function as forms of authentication of his mission and person, as well as acting as signs of better things to come and providing hope in the place of fear.65

Another function of the exorcisms that Jesus performed was to provide opportunities to the people who witnessed these events to consider what Jesus was doing and ultimately accept or reject him. These activities of Jesus provided a catalyst for faith or rejection.66 Those who witnessed such events were in a position to recognize Jesus as a healer, exorcist and teacher unlike any they had known before. Exorcisms and healings provided other opportunities as well, such as teaching opportunities. Jesus used these

⁴ Warrington, Jesus the Healer: Paradigm or Unique Phenomenon, p. 8.

¹⁵ Warrington, Jesus the Healer: Paradigm or Unique Phenomenon, p. 12-13.

Warrington, Jesus the Healer: Paradigm or Unione Phenomenon, p. 13.

events to teach his followers about discipleship. The lessons usually had to do with faith and obedience. Jesus heals in response to the faith of the sick. The writers of the Gospels tried to pass those lessons on to their readers.⁶⁷ In Mark, the healings and exorcisms that commend faith and impart a lesson about the importance of faith are shown side by side with examples where little faith is shown, even to the point where Jesus is rejected by the people who know him well. The rejection of Jesus by the people of Nazareth is an example of a lack of faith. In Mark this incident is followed by the exercism of the Gerasene demoniac, where the people of the community send Jesus away out of fear of what he had done in The other lesson that is transmitted through the accounts of Jesus' expreisms and healines is that neonle are encouraged to learn from and obey those who had been healed ⁴⁹ This is clear in the healing and expressm accounts in the Gospels of Matthew and Luke. This however is missing in Mark as Jesus tells those he heals to be quiet and to not speak of what he has done.

While exorcisms are an important part of Jesus' mission, the term 'exorcism.' έξορκιστής in Greek, is rarely used. In Mark the terms most commonly used are έξέρνομαι and έχβάλλω³⁰ ("cast out"). The use of these terms suggests a removal and relocation of the demon. Other terms frequently used in exoreign texts are "hinding" and "releasing" which suggest physical contact with the demonic spirit and would become

Warrington, Jesus the Healer: Paradiam or Unique Phenomenon, p. 15. 4 Warrington Loggy the Healer: Paradigm or Unique Phenomenon, p. 23.

Warrington, Jesus the Healer: Paradiem or Unique Phenomenon, p. 23.

Warrington, Jesus the Healer: Paradiem or Unique Phenomenon, p. 23.

Frie Streetson, Procession and Experient in the New Testament and Early Claristically (Thinner: LCB) Mohr 2002) n 133

key to the understanding and symbolism of demon possession and exorcisms in Christianity. 11 Since Mark frequently places exorcisms and healings in the same episodes, being able to recognize the language of exorcisms is important in order to distinguish the two types of activities.

In Mark's Gospel, exorcisms are not described in great detail. Mark does not tell the reader how Jesus performed exorcisms and the mechanics of the exorcism are unimportant. Mark is more concerned with the fact that Jesus performed exorcisms as a means of conveying his authority to the people to whom he ministered. While healings were described as involving some form of physical contact, exorcisms involved some form of command or rebuke of the demons by Jesus.72 Although there is no description of what Jesus does or consistency of what Jesus says in the exorcisms he performs, the Gospel includes a mandate for the apostles that follow to act in accordance with the examples of Jesus, and do the same.

Mark also attempts to place Jesus' activities as an exorcist in the context of fulfilling the teachings of the prophets. When Jesus is confronted by the Jewish authorities who accuse Jesus of being possessed by Beelzehul. Jesus defends himself with a series of illustrations including the parable of the binding of the strong man which is based on a passage from Isaiah 49: 24-25:

Would someone take spoils from a giant? And if someone should unjustly

Sorenson, Possession and Exercism in the New Testament and Early Christianity, p. 133. Spreason, Possession and Experient in the New Testament and Early Christianity n. 136.

take a captive, would (the captive) be rescued? Thus says the Lord: "If
even someone should capture a giant, he would take his spoils; and the one
who takes them from the strong man will be rescued; I will decide your
judement, and I will free your sons.

This passage is modified when placed into the context of possession and exorcisms as Mark has done. The image of binding is connected to the usual treatment of demoniacs who are bound and restrained. The act of exorcism becomes an act of unbinding. Mark uses such stories to represent the earthly possession of individuals as well as elevating them to represent the struggle between good and evil."3 While the scribes accuse Jesus of being under the control of Beelzebul, Jesus' response seems to suggest that Jesus' power and ability to perform exorcisms indicates a hostile relationship towards the demonic powers. Jesus is not possessed with an evil spirit: instead Mark wants to show that Jesus' authority to exorcise was the result of a spiritual presence instead of external sources.74 The criticism from the scribes may have been a common criticism in Jesus' time that Mark appears to reject. For Mark, the fact that Jesus can successfully perform exorcisms is proof of his legitimate authority to do so. Mark's view appears in his account of the unknown exorcist who is performing exorcisms in Jesus' name (Mark 9:38-40). For Mark. the success of the exorcist will contribute to an appreciation of Jesus and his cause.35 This enisode also alludes to the practice of calling on Jesus' name that became an important

Screnson, Possession and Exercism in the New Testament and Early Christianity, p. 141.
 Screnson, Possession and Exercism in the New Testament and Early Christianin, p. 142.

Sorenson, Possession and Exercism in the New Testament and Early Christianity, p. 142.
 Sorenson, Possession and Exercism in the New Testament and Early Christianity, p. 142.

part of the ministry of the disciples and was an important element of exorcisms in the early church. 18

Exorcisms are an important part of the message of the Kingdom of God that is central to Jeaus' ministry. Jeaus sees his conceism may report of the arrival of the Kingdom of God, Jeaus' commissions were seen as legal more impressive and successful than other exorcists. This combined with his message about God's rule would have led to criticism as seen in Mark." The accusations in Mark 2 that Jeaus was doing the work of Recherbul can be seen as a veiled acknowledgement of the success and impressive nature of Jeaus' conceisms. According to Mark "the series who came down from fermalem said." He has Bechebul, and by the ruler of the demons he casts out demons" (Mark 3.22). As we have already sould, this accusation was meant to discredit Jeaus and his success by claiming that he was doing the work of a demon. "The concisions that Jeaus performs are signs of the Kingdom of God and the struggle between good and cell which marks the final exchatological conflict that is to come and is in its early stages. His success in performing exorcisms and other healings can be seen as proof of his authority to ansounce the coming Kingdom and its viewery ower Stama and be demons." The reserces of demons to

the human sphere through the possession of people is seen as a form of active opposition

Soretson, Possession and Exorcism in the New Testament and Early Christianity, p. 143.

Craig A, Evans, "Jesus Exercisms and Proclamation of the Kingdom of God in the light of the Testaments" in Changing Face of Judatese, Christianity, and Other Green-Resignous in Antiquity (Giberslots, Goderslotes, 2006), p. 213.

Evans, "Jesus Exercisms and Proclamation in the Kingdom of God in the Light of the Testaments," p. 213. Evans also points to a parallel incident that is recorded in the Testament of Solomon. The language of the incident in Solomon is not identical to the language in Mark, but may reflect a common demonstogical terminology shared by different traditions.

Evans, "Jesus' Exorcisms and Proclamation in the Kingdom in the Light of the Testaments," p. 220.

towards God by Satan. The act of exorcism by Jesus is a sign that the Kingdom of God is also entering the human realm. Jesus is able to defeat Satan by acting on behalf of God and using that authority to perform healings and exorcisms.

Exorisms in the Goopels have been interpreted in light of the relationship between Jeans and the Jewsha authorities. Jeans is shown as constantly coming into conflict with the authorities in connection with his activities as a hoteler and exoreist. The Phartises motice Jeans' activities as an exoreist that is indicated by the accusation in Mark. 3, in which they accuse Jeans of witchersh and being a demoniac. The Phartisess were also hostile towards Jeans because of the importance he placed on coronism. Jeans interpreted corocinems differently than the Phartises; therefore they saw Jeans as a deviant. 11 Jeans' interpretation attached a preard deal of importance to his exoreist activities because he considered the exoreisms he performed to be an act of God in the world, and he encouraged his followers to do the same, sending them on ministuss to perform exoreisms. Jeans' interpretation marked a significant shift in the values the Phartises held.

The Phartises were conservative and focused on doing God's will in everyday life. Jeans' focus on corocinn as a major action did not fit into their views. As a result the Phartises focus on corocinn as a major action did not fit into their views. As a result the Phartises were conservative and focused on doing God's will in everyday life. Jeans' focus on corocinn as a major action did not fit into their views. As a result the Phartises were conservative and focused on doing God's will not everyday life.

Jesus is also shown in the Gospels as coming into conflict with Herod Antipas,

Evans, "Jesus' Exorcisms and Proclamation in the Kingdom in the Light of the Testaments," p. 230.
 Paul Hollenbach, "Help for Interpreting Jesus' Exorcisms" in Society of Biblical Literature Symbol.

Papers (No. 32, 1993), p. 125.

12 Hollonbach, "Help for Interpreting Jesus' Exorcisms," p. 125.

ruler of the Galilee region. Hered wanted Jesus killed as a result of his exorcising activity and his apparent growing influence in the political appear as Jesus sent his followers throughout the area to perform exorcisms and bealings. According to Mark, this activity of Jesus was seen as a threat to Herority position and security (Mark: 6:14-16). **

The responses of the Pharisees and Hered Antipas indicate the deeper social and political dimensions of exorcism. Demoniacs filled a niche in first century society and exorcists were allowed to heal them, but Jesus acted as an unauthorized exorcist who considered exorcisms to be very important and the work of God, challenged the social system and highlighted some of the tensions which existed in society. This challenge to the social system is what attracted the attention of the authorities to Jesus' activities.**

Kingdom of God and that his knowledge and power came frem God. The exercisms allowed Jesus to exercise his power over 'unclean spirits' as well as show the authorities, who claimed to have the necessary spiritual insights to understand the works of God, that he had the greater power to deliver people from the oppression of sin and cvill. "Whale in appears that demon possession and the presence of 'unclean spirits' was a prominent concern in the contemporary society of Jesus and the authors of the synoptic Gospels, there is actually very little consideration given to these issues in the biblical texts. The ordy attention demon possession receives in the texts is in relation to how if this issue that

For Mark, the exorcisms of Jesus showed that he was proclaiming the coming

Hollenbach, "Help for Interpreting Jesus' Exorcisms," p. 125.
 Hollenbach, "Help for Interpreting Jesus' Exorcisms," p. 126.

J. Keir Howard, "New Testament Exorcism and its Significance Today" in The Expository Times (No. 96, 1985). n. 105.

ministry and activities of Jeaus. There is no information given about what the life of the demonities was like as they dealt with their possession, what their life was like before becoming possessed by a demon or even what may have been considered the cause of the demonite possession. Demon possession is only given significance by Mark in its relation to Jeans' ministry and how it contributed to the theological significance of Jeans' work.*

Exoretisms are very important in Mark because they above that Jeans was demonstrating the actions of God in the world and that the forces of evil which hold sway over humanily were retreating from the coming of the Kingdom of God.*

The Gerasene Demoniac in the Gospel of Mark

The understanding of domon possession in the traditions of Judiain clearly influenced the biblical authors. This understanding created a dualism between realism of power. This fundism is based on a cosmology of two opposing powers, which was common in Judiains, although the Gospel writters refer to the opposing powers in crems of the Kingdom of God and the rule of Satan, it was combined with the internal aspects of possession which was common in Near Eastern thought. "This combination of ideas that developed in the New Testament and led to the netion of indiveiling possession becoming the dominant point of view when it came to demons and possession. Indiveiling possession has profound effect on human beings, as it is this type of possession that

Moward, "New Testament Exorcism and its Significance Today," p. 108.
Howard, "New Testament Exorcism and its Significance Today," p. 108.

Howard, "New Testament Exorcism and its Significance Today," p. 108.
 Sorenson, Possession and Exorcism in the New Testament and Early Christianin. p. 119.

Soretson, Possession and Exoretsin in the New Testament and Early Christianity, p

directly related humanity with demonic and divine spiritual forces and causes adverse effects on the human body and makes concrisms a necessary occurrence." Mark maintains the views of the wider culture when describing Fesus' activities as an excreti. Mark assumes a hierarchy of demons including higher and lower demons. In Mark, for example, there is a controversy with Jesus and the scribes who claim that Jesus is being influenced by the demon Beckelsul, and this allows him to perform exocrisms (Mark 2:20-27). Most of the other demons mentioned in the Gospels are lower demons, although only one is actually named besides Beckelsul and that is Legion in the story of the Gerasene demoniac."

The way exoccions stories are told in the New Testament with a focus on the demon and exorcic involved and less on the person affected by demon possession and benefiting from the ecorcism is done to highlight the work of the ecorcist and os show the readers where the authority of the exorcist comes from. In Mark the exorcist is Jesus who is shown to have received his authority from God, making him a divine healer who can reveal this power through his exorcisms. As a result the accounts of exocicisms usually end in the same way. Jesus leaves and those who witness the exorcism are left in amazement or fear." The victim is only discussed to inform the reader of the severity of the possession. The causes of demonic possession are never described in the New Testament. When a state of possession.

Sorenson, Possession and Exorcism in the New Testament and Early Christianity, p. 119.

Sorenson, Possession and Exercism in the New Testament and Early Christianity, p. 119.
Sorenson, Possession and Exercism in the New Testament and Early Christianity, p. 121.

Sovenson, Possession and Exercism in the New Testament and Early Christianity, p. 125.

although they are usually characterized as being victims of aggressive demons, who are rebelling against the divine order. 92 There is no explanation as to why a particular person was likely to become the victim of demon possession, although there were things that were believed to be causes during this period that included personal failings, ill health and misfortune 9)

There is very little said about the demoniacs in the New Testament, but they are generally portraved as innocent victims whose main purpose is to allow the exorcist to exercise their power publicly. Possession is mostly associated with human physiology that does not have ethical causes or consequences. Although there are cases in the New Testament where demon possession is linked to ethical behaviour.54 in such cases the demoniacs are believed to be responsible for their possession. As a disease takes on a demonic persona the emotions of a the victim can be demonized as a form of moral judgement. The victim is considered guilty of associations with evil and possession is the punishment.95

Here the work of René Girard is significant in further elaborating upon this insight. He sees the story of the Gerasene demoniac through the eyes of mimetic theory. According to Girard, mimeticism is the source of people's troubles, desires and rivalries and creates disorder and chaos. Reconciliation is possible and the dynamics of

Strenson, Possession and Exorcism in the New Testament and Early Christianity, p. 126. 53 Screnson, Possession and Exercism in the New Testament and Early Christianity, p. 126. Sorenson, Possession and Exorcism in the New Testament and Early Christianity, p. 153.

Sorenson, Possession and Exorcism in the New Testament and Early Christianity, p. 154.

reconciliation are the basis of mythological and religious beginnings * These dynamics are present in the stories in the Gospels. Satan is presented as the incarnation of mimetic desire. Demons and demonic forces are seen as inferior forms of Satan, Demons appear as psychological manifestations and are usually seen as the cause of predominant disorder 97 lesus encounters demons frequently throughout the Gospels, and they usually beg Jesus to leave them alone. Jesus is such a threat that Satan annears to Jesus in the wilderness to divert him from his mission is

Girard focuses on Mark's version of Jesus' encounter in Gerasa, although he does

refer to Matthew and Luke's versions of the story. Mark's account is longer and contains more details than the other accounts. According to Girard, the description of the demoniac as existing between the living and the dead, living among the tombs, points to the mimetic crisis that leads to a loss of differentiation and persocution. The mimetic phenomena that can be seen in the Gerasene demoniac are not permanent. According to Girard, the Gerasene community and demoniac have a cyclical pattern in dealine with each other. In Girard's reading of this account in Luke's Gospel the demoniac is only out of the city during bad periods.100 There has been no definitive break between the demoniac and his community. The man would be restrained in chains and he would break free, and this appeared to occur multiple times. For Girard the binding were attempts to

⁵⁶ Girard, The Scapegoot, p. 165. 17 Girard, The Scaperout, p. 166.

[&]quot; Girard. The Scarrenger, p. 167.

[&]quot; Girard The Scoremon n 168 100 Girsed The Sonnorout n 168

cure the man by removing his symptoms, which would be wandering around the mountains and tembs. The illness is o severe that violence is necessary to bind him, which results in increasing the marr's desire to seek solitade ounside the city. The continual binding becomes rimalistic. The people come to rely on the damas that becomes connected to the rimal and suffering. When Jesus heals the man, the drama is over. The people and Jesus to leave the area for this reason. He has cured the man without any violence, whereas the people had tried to simply restrain him with violence and chains. They experience being deprived of the demans and suffering as a loss. "

Girant notes that some of the behaviour described in the account of the Gerascone demoniac can be considered mimetic. The demoniac is concerned with stonig. He is described as hirting and cutting himself with stones. His practice of self-punishment mirrors the punishment of criminals in the Middle East.⁸⁰ The violence the Gerascones subject the demoniac to is also a form of mimetic behaviour. The violence creates a cycle of violence; the people are violent towards the possessed man, yet they want to keep him near. The possessed man flees the violence of the community and then is violent towards thimself. The cycle links the Gerascones and the demoniac in a relationship of mimetic rivally,¹⁰

Girard also considers the connotations of the name "Legion." While the military

¹⁸ Girard, The Scapegoar, p. 169.

Girard, The Scapegoat, p. 169.
Girard, The Scapegoat, p. 170.
Girard, The Scapegoat, p. 171.

imagery connected to the term is quite clear, the term can refer to crowds in general. Jesus is surrounded by crowds during his ministry. There are crowds surrounding Jesus in Galilee before he crosses to the Gentile territory and after he returns. In the region of the Gerasenes. Jesus encounters the crowd of demons, the Legion, as well as the swine and the crowd from the community after the healing. 165 There is a difference between the Galilean crowds and the Gentile crowds. The Galileans are not afraid of the miracles Jesus performs: they look to Jesus as a saviour, although they will turn against him. The Gentiles are afraid because of the miracle that Jesus has performed among them. The miracle creates anxiety; therefore they ask Jesus to Jesus the area 16. They are disturbed by the removal of their demons. They have become, as it were, attached to the demons and cannot be without them. The cycle that had been established is very important to their existence: it provides structure and acts as a form of catharsis 100. The healing of the possessed man and the drawning of the Legion in the pigs has completely altered the system. The mimeticism in the system that has been created in the Gerasenes community is what unities the people as a community. The community is organized around the convictence of the people and demons 198

Richard Horsley in his book. Hearing the Whole Word, takes a slightly different tack from Girard. Horsley's interpretation is not as Freudian as that of Girard and the Jesus of his study is parrower. Horsley seeks to draw out the political implications of the

¹⁶ Girsed, The Scapernat, p. 173.

¹⁰⁶ Girard. The Scopennet, p. 174.

¹⁰⁷ Girard. The Somewood p. 175. 108 Girard The Soonemout p. 182.

Legion parrative. Horsley sees the story as being symbolic of the political struggles between the people of the Palestinian region and the Romans. For Horsley, the political dimensions of Jesus' struggle are central to understanding the exorcism in the region of the Gerasenes. The name "Legion" would have been recognized by the audience as being a reference to the Roman troops. The audience knew the Roman legions that would have come into the villages, burned their houses and killed and enslaved the people. This adds the political element to the story and has the demon becoming the Roman army 109 The possessed man is suffering as a result of the presence of the Roman army in the area. The man's violent behaviour is a reaction to the violence experienced at the hands of the Romans. The man becomes symbolic of the whole society that suffers under Roman rule. There is a sense of political empowerment in hearing through the text that the Legion was subject to the authority of Jesus and that Jesus dismissed the Legion and removes it from the region. In light of the military and political allusions in the text, the story can be seen as a liberation story. The people become liberated from the Roman legions. Jesus is taking control and destroying the forces that possess the people, in doing this he is establishing God's rule 110

According to Horsley, the exercisms in Mark's Gospel have increased importance when viewed in the light of a political background. The imperial conflict that was the reality of the area of Galilee was tied up in a higher, supernatural complete the execution and Statu. Belleff in demons was an important tool for oppersed popel living under "I travity, Harving the Third. Sony: The Politics of Plant Mark's Graphy 1, 100.

Horsley, Hearing the Whole Story: The Politics of Plot in Mark's Gospel, p. 140.
 Horsley, Hearing the Whole Story: The Politics of Plot in Mark's Gospel, p. 141.

foreign rule. People in ancient Palestine living under the authority of the Romans, understood the situation as a struggle between God and demonic forces. This understanding was both on enabling revelation and a diversion. Belief that their situation was part of something bigger and under God's control allowed the people to survive the oppressive presence of the Romans without resorting to rebellion.¹¹¹ The violence and economic exploitation that accompanied Roman rule was generally authoritied to demon possession. Jesus works to bring about the removal of the people and this, says Horsley, is what Mark's narrative is primarily about. The healing of the Gerasene demoniac names the Roman political and military forces as the true force from which the people seek. liberation. The audience of thus? Goopel is now aware of this and the story continues which a focus on the Roman rulers of Irrard and their representatives that load to Jesus' trial and enceiftsion.¹¹¹

and this includes opposing the local and foreign rulers. [13]

The Gerasene Demoniac may, therefore, be understood from both a psychological and religious perspective and also from a political one. A psychological understanding of the demoniac views demon possession as a representation of mental illness and social control. Paul Hollenbach relies on the social sciences to gain an understanding of the psychological aspects of the story. Hollenbach uses the methods of the social sciences to interpret the story of the Gerasene demoniac and what it reveals about demon possession. The story shows how demon possession can act as both a disease and cure. The demons are identified with the Roman legions that are occupying Palestine. The legions are the most visible sign of the Romans presence in the area and the demoniac equates it with the devil. Yet the only way the man is able to do that is through mental disorder. The mental symptoms seem to be the result of the batred the man feels toward the Romans and the necessity to repress that anger for his own safety. If he expresses that anger, he faces punishment from the Romans, but the madness he is now experiencing allows the man to express his anger and escape the punishment of the authorities.114 In this case the demon possession is a result of the oppression and an expression of resistance. Demon possession is a symbolic resistance to Roman oppression.

The community has accepted the man suffering the demon possession within certain limits. The neonle have to deal with the violence that is a part of his illness. They

Horsley, Hearing the Whole Story: The Politics of Plot in Mark's Gospel, p. 148.
 Hollenbach, "Jesus, Demoniscs and Public Authorities," p. 581.

have gone so fir as to try to bind and restrain the man and that did not work. The people have estraiced the man to the nearby centedery. The man staying at the centercy created a stanu quo that worked for the people. They did not have to deal with the man on a daily beauting the content of the people. They did not have to deal with the man on a daily beauty and what the the monitored. The established order was destroyed when Jesus came and healed the man. This is what led the townspeople to ask Jesus to leave the area. The people are afraid of what Jesus has done. Hollenbuch suggests that the healing of the man and the loss of the swine have brought the people's hattered of the Roman occupation out into the open, leaving the people valuerable. "This valuerability is felt more profoundly since the healed man is telling his story throughout the area.

The story of the Gerussen demonities reveals information about society and social mores in first century Palestine. The way the demonities was treated and accommodated suggests that there was a prescribed and socially acceptable way of handling demonities. The demonities as well as the exercists who healed them had a place in society, just as the religious leaders. If the demonities and correits acted within the prescribed boundaries of their roles, there were no conflicts with the authorities. As soon as the limits were overstopped, conflict with the authorities would occur as a means of reinstituting the acceptable social order. If Jenus appears to be working in this pattern. He performs curvations that least to conflict with the Phartieses and Herold Austipus, Jenus' exocutions seems to overstep the limits of the role of credicts. Hollshocks upgests two reasons why

Hollenbach, "Jesus, Demoniacs and Public Authorities," p. 581.
 Hollenbach, "Jesus, Demoniacs and Public Authorities," p. 582.

Jesus' ecorcisms were considered to be socially unacceptable: the first was that Jesus may have interpreted and practised coroctisms in a way that was different from the Pharisces' own interpretation. The Pharisces would have considered this difference deviant and they would want to stop him. Secondly, Jesus saw his exorcisms as being the work of God in the world, thus making exorcisms very important. The Pharisces reacted against this. To place such significance on exorcisms and demon prosession was to open themselves up to the possibility that illness and the social system were connected. This was not possible for the Pharisces who had become an important part of the social hierarchy.¹¹⁷ Therefore, Jesus's activities appeared to be radical, counter-cultural and a threat to the social position of the Pharisces.

Jesus' conflict with Herod Antipus was also related to his exoretism. The hostility that Herod developed toward Jesus could have come from the Phariness who were concerned about Jesus' activities, as well as concerned over the growing movement surrounding Jesus in the missions of the twelve disciples. A growing social movement, such as the one following Jesus, would have been perceived as a threat to Herod. "Jesus' exorteisms were problematic since he was acting as an unauthorized exorcist who claimed his work was the work of God and was feeding a large social movement. Jesus' coorcisms were a contributing factor that leads to his crucifixion. At the heart of the conflict between Jesus and the authorities were difference in social values. The authorities wardifference are model and the properties were difference and the authorities were difference in social values. The authorities wardifference is most all values.

Hollenbuck, "Jesus, Demoniacs and Public Authorities," p. 583.
Hollenbuck, "Jesus, Demoniacs and Public Authorities," p. 583. Herod would have seen the Jesus movement in a similar light as the movement surrounding John the Bupeist which was a threat to Herod's position and security.

The Dimensions of Mark's Story

The story of the Gerasene elemoniac allows the author of Mark to show that Jesus' actions were symbolic of a new order that would be unbered into the world. Jesus is a hurbinger of a new order which breaks down social and political burriers. It is a story which is multifaceted and multiflimensional. The incident of the Gerasene demoniac illustrates this credutes more than any other story.

The military symbolism that can be found in the account of the Gerasene demoniac cannot be taken literally to mean that Jesus was advocating opposing the Roman military by force. Mark uses political language to bring attention to and make space for Jesus' message about the Kingdom. The Eventually the way will be cleared of those things that stand in the way of the Kingdom.

The episode involving the Gersaene demoniac is unique as it is one of the few times Jesus interacts with and even performs miracles for Gentiles. The story shows Jesus crossing the Sea of Galliles into Gentile territory, in this particular case the Decapolis. The Decapolis translated as 'hen cities', which was a Hellenistic region in the eastern area of the Roman Empire. The location that Mark describes and refers to as the 'vocurty of the Roman Empire. The location that Mark describes and refers to as the 'vocurty of

¹³³ Hollenbach, "Jesus, Demoniacs and Public Authorities," p. 584.

¹³ Ched Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus (Maryknoll NY: Orbis Books, 1988), p. 194.

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 190.

the Gerasenes" (Mark 5:1) is problematic. The city of Gerasa was approximately 30 miles from the area that Mark describes. 122 Although Mark may have been trying to exaggerate the point that Jesus was outside his home territory and in a Gentile area.

The story begins when Jesus arrives on shore and is immediately conflorated by the demoniac, or a man with an unclean spirit (Mark 5:2). The demoniac has been living in the wilderness, among the tombs. This makes the man unclean, according to Jewish law. Yet Jesus interacts with him. The interaction of a Jewish person with someone who was unclean, as demoniacs were considered to be, or even the area of the tombs that was unclean, was prohibited by Jewish law. Mark notes further along in the story that the presence of pigs also contribute to the impure nature of the location. The impurity of the location can be connected to a pusage from Isaith that cuttines things that are offensive to Ced. In Isaith 5:4:4 tumbs and priving seek housed possible in Section 1.

A people who provoke me to my face continually, secrificing in gardens and offering incense on bricks; who sit inside tombs, and spend the night in secret places; who cat swine's flesh, with broth of abominable things in

This impure character of the setting is key to suggesting a Gentile location. The demoniac had been living among the tombs outside of the community. There had also been several attempts made to restrain the demoniac. The demoniac had been restrained with chains

their vessels (NRSV).

¹² Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 190.

and shackles and he always managed to break free. The demoniac was quite strong and no one had enough strength to subdue him. The demoniac lives a troubled life in the cemetery, bowline and harmine himself with stones (Mark 5: 4.45)

The demoniac sees Jesus approaching and demands to know what Jesus wants with him. Here Jesus is referred to as the "bik toll fleoli toll (buietton" (Mark 5:7), which is a Hellenistic term that appears in other places in the New Testament. 123 The use of this greeting also highlights the Gentile setting of the story. Jesus engages in a conversation with the demoniac. The demons are trying to name Jesus, but Jesus wants to know about the demon. In verse 11, Jesus is told a name: the demon is known as "Asyntiv." for "they are many." The military allusion is quite clear and in Mark's social period would only have referred to a division in the Roman military.124 Military language and illusions are found throughout the rest of the story. There is a herd of swine in the area, near the meeting place of the demoniac and Jesus. The term 'herd,' gyn\hat{n} in Greek, is generally not used to refer to swine, but could be a term used to refer to military recruits.125 The Λεγτών begs to be sent into the swine before Jesus starts the exorcism. Jesus agrees and sends the Acroby from the man into the swine who then run into the sea. The death of the swine also removes the Λεγιών from the area. The image of the swine rushing into the sea can be seen as a military image of soldiers rushing onto the battlefield. In the Jewish context the image alludes to liberation of the Israelites in Exodus when the Fountian army

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 191.
 Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 191.

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 191.
 Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 191.

follows the Israelites into the Red Sea and are drowned (Ex. 15:4). Although this incident occurs in a Gentile area there is meaning for the Jewish background of Mark's audience. 18

The account of the exorcism concludes with witnesses, the swinehends, running to tell others what they had seen. The townspeople return to the area, see the demonite healed, become afraid and ank Jenus to leave (Mark 5:11+16). The healed man wants to come with Jenus, but he reflues. Jenus tells the man "Varge of, the older one supply cope, oxide, and draftyreslow admit's four of scipted; one accentrace wait plainpiet on." (Mark 5:19). Mark left us that the man preaches about his experience throughout the Decapolis. This is different from other healings or miracles in which Jenus wants his actions to remain secret.

¹⁰ Myrer, Berling the Corony Man. A Pollisted Founding of March Story of Annex, p. 191. Myrer also refers to a passage from Pollisher prograding in cities of in which California onesined Foreign an indice during a passage of the Coron of the Coron

3. The Gerasene Demoniac and the Markan Redaction

The Gospel of Mark has a very deliberate structure in which the author of the text organized his source materials to create a narrative with a particular plot that served the purposes of the author. Mark describes Jesus' public ministry in the first nine chapters of the text. One of the elements of this ministry, and an important aspect of the structure of the text, is Jesus' movements throughout the area of Galilee into the Gentile area surrounding it.

Geography and Structure

The movement into the Gentile territory is introduced by Mark through "sea crossings." Jesus crosses the Sea of Galilee macrous times and performs miracles in Gentile territory that parallel the miracles be performs in Galilee. These movements reveal the structure that Mark used to shape his marrative and need to be understood within the social context of the first century period. The inclusion of the Gentiles in the narrative arresses how unique Jesus was as it was a religious taboo for Jesus to interact with Gentiles. Jewish thought was concerned with who was within and outside the people of God.⁵²³ Jesus' travels outside Galilee can thus be seen as a means of establishing a new order. ⁵³⁴

Eric K. Wefald, "The Separate Gentile Mission in Mark: A Narrative Explanation of Markan Geography, the Two Feeding Accounts and Exercisms," in The Journal for the Study of the New Testament 60

¹³⁸ Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jerus, p. 186.

The Gentile mission is mentioned explicitly by Mark as Jesus crosses the Sea of Galileae, Jesus often crosses the sea to the Gentile regions on the other side, even though sea travel was a dangerous undertaking, Jesus appears to travel early across the sea to the unfamiliar Gentile territories that broder the Galilea region. Jesus is shown as being a mediator between the Jesus and the Gentiles when the travels to reveal the Gospel to each group, ¹⁰⁹ Jesus makes four trips across the Sea of Galilee in Mark. The first trip is referenced in Mark 435, Jesus lavers some point in Galilee and arrives in the country of the Genaries, then makes a return trip, In Mark 645, Jesus makes another trip across the sea to Behasidak, stopping in the area of Generaerut. While Jesus has sent the disciples ahead of him, he is also instructing them to move outside the areas and people they know to include Gentiles, ¹⁰⁷ Then he returns to Galilee. Another journeys occurs on land as Jesus travels to the area of Type and Sidon (Mark 7-24) then he travels to region of Decapolis. These journeys are set whisi the structure and plot of the narrative. This goes against the view that Mark was a collection of source material that lacked cobesion. ¹¹

The sources of Mark take the form of sayings of Jesus and stories about him created by prophets and storytellers within the Jesus movement. We have are suggestions that the material, as Mark found it, was arranged in a particular manner. This pee-markan arrangement contributed to the presence of cycles in the narrative. These cycled link

¹⁷ Workld "The Sensente Goerile Mission in Mark " n.7

Wefald, "The Separate Gentile Mission in Mark," p. 10.

See, for example, the comment of Bultmann, above p. 5, footnote 2.

Dennis C, Duling, The New Testament: History; Literature and Social Contest (Belmont: Wadsworth Publishing, 2003), p. 304.

material by subject and theme. Healing stories are connected to other healings that occurred in different communities, as well as link Jesus' teachings and miracles to the Gentiles to those that occurred among the Jesus. But Mark has organized the meterial in a way that allows the reader to understand the message of the text: that Jesus was acting on behalf of God to institute the Kingdom of God on earth. Mark, for example, introduces optiodes in similar ways. Geographical references usually introduce and conclude an optiode. Places are usually given a symbolic significance in Mark, for example, the sea becomes a place of teaching and the wilderness is a place of teneptation.¹⁰

Another of Mark's organizational tools is intervaluation, or sandwicking, "I This refers to the appearance of a stery within a story such as the account of the woman with the homoverhage which is inserted in the account of the healing of Jainvi daughter in Mark 3:21-43. These analysished ateries appear throughout the entire Gospel and even the whole text is organized as a large sandwick. The Gospel is divided into three large sections with the first section 1:1-16:2 and the third section 1:1-16:3 providing a frame for the middle section 1:1-16:3 providing a frame for the middle section 1:1-16:3 providing a frame for the middle section. 8:27-16-14-3. The middle section is a transition from Jeau's ministry in the area around the Sea of Galilee to his final days and death in Jerusa explaining what must human to be a section also contains the three passion predictions as well as Jesus explaining what must human to the section also contains the three passion predictions as well as Jesus explaining what must human to the section also contains the three passion predictions as well as Jesus explaining what must humans to his dividence? "

The Gospel of Mark is also organized by geography. The story moves along

Duling, The New Testament: History: Literature and Social Context, p. 307.

Duling, The New Testament: History, Literature and Social Connest, p. 308.

Dulitty, The New Testament: History, Literature and Social Context, p. 308.

geographical lines, from one area to another, following Jesus' travelling activities. The beginning of the text occurs in Galilee then moves beyond that region, with the text concluding in Jerusalem. The summary material that appears throughout the text summarizes the teachings and activities. 136 These summaries act as transitions in the parentive and mark a shift from one story or location to a new story and location, such as in Mark 5:21 which marks the movement of Jesus from the area of the Gerasenes back to Galilaa

In light of the stylistic and structural features of the Gospel of Mark, an outline can be constructed focusing on the geographical movements from Galilee to Jerusalem and the themes that appear in the narrative. Duling provides a brief outline of the text which follows the geographical and structural features found in Mark:177

1-1-13 Introduction

1:14-15 Transitional summary

Galilan

1:16-3:6 Section dealing with the authority of Jesus

3:7-12 Transitional Summary

3:13-6:6a Jesus as the Son of God and rejected by his own people

6:6b Transitional Summary

198 Duling, The New Testament: History, Literature and Social Context, p. 308.

Duling, The New Testament: History: Literature and Social Context, p. 309.

6:7-8:21 Jesus is misunderstood by his disciples

Caesarea Phillippi

8:22-26 Transition - blindness miracle

8:27-10:45 blindness of the disciples 10:46-52 Transition – blindness miracle

Jerusalem

11:1-12:44 Days leading up to the passion

13:1-5a Introduction to apocalyptic discourse

13:5b-37 Apocalyptic discourse

14:1:12 Introduction to the passion narrative

14:13-16:8 Passion narrative

The division of the text highlights distinct themes in the text. For example the theme of blindness is very clear in the middle transitional section. It begins and ends with a miracle story that involves Jesus healing blindness. The teaching that occurs in this section focuses on the inability of heling blindness. The teaching that occurs in this section includes teaching by Jesus, the passion predictions and the transfiguration. In each of these timings the disciples are unable to fully understand what Jesus is doing or telling them. The first major section focuses on the question of who Jesus is, as well as the secrecy surrounding Jesus' identity. The final section of the text answers the question regarding Jesus' identity by focusing of His last days in Jerusalem.¹⁰⁸

The Bread Cycle

The bread cycle deals with the feeding narratives, in which Jesus feeds 5000 people and 4000 people in separate incidents. The appearances in the text of these accounts appear at the end of parallel cycles that occur in chapters 4 through 8:

Cycle I (Mark 4:35-6:44)	Cycle 2 (Mark 6:45-8:26)
4:35-41 Stilling the Storm	6:45- 51 Jesus walks on the sea
5:1-20 The Gerasene Demoniac	8:22-26 Blind man of Bethsaid
5:25-34 Woman with a Haemorrhage	7:24b-30 Syrophoenician wom
5:21-23, 35-43 Jairus' Daughter	7:32-37 Deaf Mute
6:34-44 Feeding of 5,000	8:1-10 Feeding the 4, 000140

Each eyele begins with a nature miracle, in which Jesus is shown to have command over the elements of nature by calming a severe storm in the first account and then walking on water in the account that introduces the second cycle. These enisodes stere the numous of

David J. Hawkin, "The Symbolism and Structure of the Marcan Reduction," in The Evangelical Ownterly 49 (April-June 1977), p. 110.

The appearance of the account of the the blind man of Bethsaida is out of sequence because Mark is thought to have moved it from its original position to support the theme of the blind disciplos found later.

in the narraive. Duling, The New Textament: History, Literature and Social Context, p. 306.

Outline of cycles taken from Duling, The New Textament: History, Literature and Social Context, p. 305.

showing that Jesus had authority that was unique; he was able to assert his authority over nature. This authority is what characterized Jesus' public ministry and the various miracles and healings he performed. The cycles in the text begin with these events to hisblidith the authority Jesus uses to refrom the healines and miracles that follow.

The stilling of the storm is followed by the healing of the Geramene demoniac. The storm occurs suddenly as Jesus and the disciples are crossing the Sea of Galilee into Gentile territory. Sudden storms were not uncommon on the Sea of Galilee. "Jesus is aleep and is only awoken by the disciples who are afraid of the storm. Jesus wakes and tells the atoms to be still. (Mark 43-83-9). The disciples are just as frightened by Jesus' authority over the atoms as they are of the atom itself. Shortly after the atoms the boat authority over the atoms as they are of the atom itself. Shortly after the atoms the boat authority over the atoms as they are of the atom itself. Shortly after the atoms the boat authority ones. Jesus encounters the Geramera demoniac as soon as he arrives in the area. After Jesus has healed the man and removed the Legion from the area, people from the nearly community ask Jesus to Jesus. In Mark 522 is a uneventful ace crossing is mentioned as less and the disciples event not be Nevish ids do for the Devish blass of the Devish this of the Devis this of the Devish this of the Devis this of

After Jesus arrives on the shore of the Sea of Gaillee, he encounters one of the leaders of the synagogue, Jarius, who asks that Jesus help his dying twelve year old daughter. Jesus agreed and while he is poing to the marsi daughter he is involved with a crowd of people that includes a woman suffering from a heamentage for twelve years. She believes that it if he touches Jesus clothers she will be healed. The woman would have

⁽⁴⁾ Gerard Mackwill, The Healing Miracles in Mark's Gospel: The Passion and Compassion of Jesus (Middleoreen Evolund: St. Psul Publishine, 1987), p. 74.

been considered rimally unclean and it would have been unusual for someone who is unclean to be in a large crowd as Mark described. The woman seems to want to avoid notice by slipping into the crowd and only touching Jeaus' clothes, but Jeaus notices. Jeaus wants to speak to the woman to finish the healing by telling her that her faith has made her well (Mark 5:34). Then Jeaus continues to go to heal Jarius' daughter, although messengers had arrived telling of the girl's death (Mark 5:35). The girl is mised by Jeaus and walks around and Jeaus tells them not to any anything and to give her something to earl (5:43). This example of Mark's andwich technique of organization allows Mark to tell of more of Jeau's mincles in a short period of time. In this instance it appears that Jeaus performs two miracles as soon as he arrived in the area.

The cycle concludes with the story of the freding of the 5000 (Mark 6:34-44). This story follows the account of the mission to the twelve and the death of John the Baptist which is not included in the cycle. The feeding occurs in a deserted place. Many people had seen Jesus and the disciples leaving the town and followed them. When Jesus arrived at the place he felt compassion for all the people who had come there to see him so he began to teach. The disciples wanted Jesus to leave and send the people away to go get something to eat. Jesus tells the disciples to feed the people. The disciples collected five loaves of bread and two fish from the crowd. There is a lengthy exchange between Jesus and the disciples, which slows the movement of the narrative and add satticipation for the reader. ¹⁰ Jesus took the food, blessed it and broke up into pieces. The food was ¹¹ Markett, The Healing Monetan Mark 15 Google: The Peaston and Computation of Jesus, p. 55.

shared among 5,000 men (Mark 6:44)141 and twelve baskets of left over food was collected after everyone had eaten. This feeding parrative is directed towards the Jewish neonle. It occurs in a Jewish area near the shore of the Sea of Galilee, in a Jewish region, There are allusions to elements of Judaism within Mark's account. The number of fish. five, is significant as it conjures up the number of books in the Torah. The twelve baskets collected after the meal recalls that there are twelve tribes of Israel. The word that appears in the text for backet, viceous, refers to a backet commonly used by the lewish neonle. 145

The second series of narratives of the bread cycle contains stories similar to those in the first cycle. It begins with a nature miracle on the sea of Galilee. In this story Jesus walks on water to the amazement of the disciples. After the feeding of the 5,000, Jesus sends his disciples ahead of him to Bethsaida (Mark 6:45). After spending some time alone. Jesus notices the boat and the disciples out on the water. The disciples are structling to row against the strong wind. Jesus sets out, walking on the water with the intention to pass the disciples. By early morning he is near the disciples who notice him and are afraid since they believed they were seeing a shost (Mark 6:49). Jesus identified himself to the disciples then climbs into the boat and the wind stopped. The disciples were astounded by this feat. Mark links the astonishment of the disciples to their lack of understanding about the loaves, which is a result of their hardened hearts (Mark 6:52).

This incident is very similar to the account of the stilling of the storm in chapter

¹⁴⁴ The author of Mark only gives the number of people as 5,000 men. 10 Hawkin "The Symbolism and Structure of the Marcan Reduction" p. 103

four. There are also differences between these two incidents. There is no storm in chapter 6; instead there is a strong wind which has made rowing difficult, that not impossible. There is no danger as in the storm, there is no risk of loss of life. Instead the sight of Jesus approaching is what frightens the discipless more than the weather. In Mark's account of this event, Jesus is the cause of paine, which he does calm. ¹⁰³ Jesus does not deliberately frighten the disciples without reason. This is a test of the faith of the disciples, which is necessary after their inshellity to understand the feeding of the 5,000 which had happened just before this event. This miracle occurs after Jesus has loadated himself from the disciples when he sends them off in the boat, and then from the world when he goes up a mountain to pray. This indiation is what allowed Jesus to see the strongle of the disciples against the wind and what set off the events of this miracle.

The next story of the cycle is the encounter of Jesus and the Symphoenician woman. Jesus has travelled outside the area of Galillee, as he had done in chapter five. Jesus has travelled into the region of Tyrs and Sidon. Jesus is studying in a house and does not want people to know that he is there. The Symphoenician woman hours that he is there and goes to see him (Mark 725). She is a Gentille, but she has come to Jesus to seek help for her daughter who is possessed by a demon. Jesus reducts on the Jesus in a very untuitativing way by telling her that "it is not fair to take the children's fixed and throw it to the dogs?" (Mark 727). The woman is able to respond to Jesus' rebuke and Jesus is moved to heal her daughter. This story highlights that Jesus came to minister primarily to the

Mackrell, The Healing Miracles in Mark's Gospel: The Passion and Compassion of Jesses, p. 97.

Jews. The Jewish people needed someone to come to them, but this story shows that the Gentiles needed help as well.³⁴⁷

This healing is followed by more travelling. Jesus leaves Tyre and Sidon and goes back to Galilee by travelling through the Decapolis. While in the Decapolis, Jesus is approached by people who are leading a man who is deaf and unable to speak. The people beg Jesus to heal the man, which Jesus does. Jesus takes the man away from the crowd and restores his speech and hearing. Jesus orders the people not to tell anyone what he had done (Mark 7:36). The people are amazed and zealously proclaim the work that Jesus has done. This miracle occurs in the same area as the exorcism of Legion, and the people had beard of Jesus and what he can do. Jesus takes the man aside in an effort to ensure privacy. Jesus touches the man in this healing which is unusual since physical contact with Jesus is rare in the text. This healing also appears to require some effort on the part of Jesus. He needs privacy to perform this healing, possibly in a need for time to develop a method of healing the man. He looks up to heaven and sighs during the healing, which could suggest that Jesus was tired.18 The witnesses are excited and hard to contain despite the order from Jesus to keep silent about what he has done. This is similar to other accounts of miracles in which those healed or the miracle witness tell of what has hannened, even though Jesus had requested that the matter remain secret on other occasions

Mackrell, The Healing Miracles in Mark's Gospel: The Passion and Compassion of Jesses, p. 87.
 Mackrell, The Healing Miracles in Mark's Gospel: The Passion and Compassion of Jesses, p. 92-93.

This healing is followed by the feeding of the 4,000, the final story in the bread cycle. There is no location given of where this event takes place. The account begins with the reader being told there was a large crowd that did not have any food. Jesus feels compassion for the hungry people. If they are sent home, they will faint of hunger on the way (Mark 8:3). Jesus asks the disciples for bread and they have seven loaves, as well as several small fish. Jesus blesses the food, breaks it and shares it among the crowd. There was enough food left to fill seven baskets. After the meal Jesus sent the people away and left with the disciples for the district of Dalmanutha (Mark 8:10). This is a symbolic narrative indicating that Gentiles are included in God's plan of salvation. In a similar fashion the feeding of the 5.000 indicates that Jews are included. The event occurs as Jesus is travelling in Gentile territory, it follows the healing of the deaf man that occurred in the Decapolis and Jesus immediately leaves for Dalmanutha, which is also in Gentile territory. The recurrence of the number seven, the number of fish and baskets of left over food, speaks to a Gentile audience as it is a mystical number indicating universality and completeness. The word used for basket, σπυρίς, refers to a common basket that would likely have been frequently used by Gentiles.149

Following the story of the feeding, while in the boat, bread becomes an issue among the disciples in Mark 8:14-21. The disciples have not brought bread and only had one loaf with them for this journey. Jesus then warns them about "the yeast of the Pharisees and the yeast of Herod" (Mark 8:15). The disciples continue to talk about not

Hawkin, "The Symbolism and Structure of the Marcan Redaction," p. 103.

having broad and Jesus questions them, because they do not understand what he is doing. Jesus sees that they have hardened their hearts and can not comprehend what has been happening (Mark 817-18). Jesus asks them about the two feeding miracles and how many baskets of left over food had been collected each time. The disciples answer twelve in the first miracles and seven in the second. Jesus questions their inability to understand again (Mark R21). The disciples have yet again missed the point of what Jesus is doing. The line of questioning of the disciples used by Jesus serves the purpose of diswising attention to the significance of the numbers. It was Augustine who noted that the numbers 4 (4,000 in the first feeding) and 7 (7 lowes) are universal numbers. The numbers 5 (5,000 in the first feeding) and 12 (12 baskets) reset the 5 books of the Torola and the 12 thress of Iracs. The occoveration acts as an echo of the feeding initiaties as well as the other soa incidents, the ealming of the storm and the walking on water. **

other sea incidents, the caiming of the storm and the walking on water. **

According to Duling, the story of the healing of the blind man in Berhaulda would fit within the bread cycle, but was moved from its position by the text reductor so that it comes after the feeding of the 4,000. The story fits into the section regarding the theme of the blindness of the disciples. Its new position concludes the bread cycle and opens the section dealing with the blindness theme and marking a transition in the story. **Il Jesus arrives in Behaulah, and is approached by a group of people who are excerding a blind man, looking for Jesus to heal him. Jesus takes the blind man and goes outside the village.

Elizabeth Struthers Malbon, "Echoes and Foreshadowing in Mark 4-8: Reading and Rereading," in The Symposic of Bibliog Literature 112 (Symposis 1991), p. 214.

Duling, The New Testament: History; Literature and Social Contest, p. 306.

(Mark 823). Jesus lays his hands on the man, and then removes his hands. The man can see people that look like trees. Jesus touches him as exceed time and the man can see clearly (Mark 825) Jesus then dismines the man and selected the selection of the selection of the billing of the desiphes is significant. Jesus had questioned the disciples regarding their ability to see then heals a man of blindness. Mark connects Jesus' healing of the deaf and blind to the disciples ability to hear and see and fully understand what Jesus is doing. Mark may have thought the difficulty in understanding could have been extended to his audience.¹⁰¹

The narmive cycles which conclude with the feeding narmives includes camples of the symbolium Mark uses, as well as representations of Mark's socio-coconomic ideology. The feeding of the 5,000 follows the disciples return from their mission and Jesus learning of the death of John the Buptist. Jesus wants to retreat with the disciples for a time of reflection, but the arrival of the crowds disrupts this time. Jesus expresses compassions for the people who have travelled from their homes and begin to teach and wants to provide food when it gets late. The disciples are less compassionate, believing the crowd aboud be sent sway to find their own food. With food collected from the crowd everyone is able to cut and be satisfied. The food is shared among the crowd, instead of purchased from a marketplace, as the disciples wanted. Mark highlights the limiteration of the commission of share or market recognise.

Mackrell, The Healing Miracles in Mark's Gospel: The Passion and Compassion of Jesus, p.105.
 Mvers. Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 206.

Mark also uses images from the Hebrew Scriptures in this parrative. The image of the Evadus and God providing food for the Israelites in the wilderness is mirrored in Jesus providing food for the crowds. The story also parallels a narrative from the miracle stories of Elisha in which he feeds a large group of people and had food left over (2 Kings 4:42-44). Flisha's feeding occurs during a time of famine and Jesus may be alluding to such conditions as hunger, tithing and food distributions which Mark already mentions in his text (Mark 2:23,28) 154 The final allusion Mark uses from the Hebrew scripture is the phrase "sheen without a shenherd" (Mark 6:34). Mark uses the phrase to describe the crowd that has come to Jesus and what led Jesus to feel compassion toward them. Mark's use of the term has political overtones. The term implies political criticism by Mark. Jesus is a leader and organizer, the shenherd, for the people who lacked such leadership. The use of the term recalls the prophets who often criticized the leadership. Mark appears to connect Jesus to the tradition of the prophets who criticized the ruline classes. Jesus provides food for the hungry people. The political economy in Palestine benefits the ruling classes, who set to protect these benefits at the cost of the lower classes 155. The ruling classes are supposed to act as shepherds for the people, but betray that rule for nower and wealth

The feeding of the 4,000 assumes some of the same symbolic elements of the other feeding and Mark quickly sets the scene for the narrative. The readers of the text know that Jesus can feed a multitude of people, now be is feeding a crowd of outsiders, ""Where, Binding the Storm Mant. It Political Bending of Mark's Story of Jonas, p. 207.

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 209.

the Gentiles 1% The focus for Jesus is on the problem with sustenance. Jesus does not want to send the people away since they have had nothing to eat in three days and they may faint on the way. Farlier in the Gospel Jesus encountered Pharisees and they had a disagreement regarding fasting. Jesus rejects the piety related to fasting when hunger is a serious problem. Jesus is more concerned with meeting the basic needs of the people. which is what happens in this feeding narrative. The reaction of the disciples is different in this narrative compared to the other feeding. In the first narrative, the disciples express indignation about having to find food for so many people. They would rather send the people away to buy food. In the second feeding the disciples are portraved as experiencing despair because of Jesus desire to feed the crowd. They are in the wilderness, removed from the markets and the social order they are accustomed to. They do not know where the resources needed to feed 4,000 are located, yet Jesus manages to feed everyone and have food left over. As in the previous feeding parentive there is enough food remaining after the meal to fill several baskets. Hunger is a universal problem and in the feeding parenties, Iesus is offering a humane way to deal with the problem. The feeding parentines symbolically function to show Mark's vision of the "economic satisfaction of the masses and an ideology of sharing." 157

¹⁹⁶ Malbon, " Echoes and Foreshadowine in Mark 4-8: Reading and Rereading," p. 217. Muore, Binding the Strong May: A Political Bonding of Mark's Story of Lengt p. 217.

The Exorcism Cycle

The bread cycle is composed of several miracles that mirror each other in form, with a focus on Jesus' ministry to the Jews on ene hand and Gentiles on the other, that end with the feeding narrarives. This is not the only cycle of material in the structure of Mark's Gospel. The ecoresium material Mark uses is also organized to show parallels between the Jews and Gentiles and the work of Jesus among them. The ministry of Jesus begins with an exorcium in Capermann. This event marks the beginning of Jesus' work in Galilee and caught the attention of the authorities. The exorcium of the Gerastee demonatae is the first thing Jesus does among the Gentiles. Jesus is shown entering Gentile territory several times for Mark's Goopfe following this exocusion. He would perform several miracles and teach during his trips to the Gentile areas along the Sea of Galilee.

The coordinn in the synangupos in Capernaum is Jeans first public action. The first part of chapter one, describes the beginning of Jeans ministry, his buption, temptation in the wilderness and the calling of his disciples. This exorcion is Jeans' first action that will draw the attention of the people, who react with amazement to what he has done, which is how people will react to other miracles Jeans will perform during his ministry. According to the author of Mark, Jeans becomes quite famous as a result of performing this miracle and is known throughout the region of Galilee from this point on. With this exorcion Jeans is moved from the margins of society into the centre of the Jewish social order. Jeans perform this coordinn in the synappupos, which is a succeed place, on the Sabshul. which is sucred time. ¹⁰ Jesus is described as having more authority than the scribes (Mark. 122) and performs the exorcism in the synagogue which was the domain of the scribes. The story establishes the struggle between Jesus and the religious authorities. The exorcism is the meants Jesus uses to confront the authorities and assert himself and his alternative viceopoint in a war of myths with the religious authorities. ¹⁰

The exorcium of the Gerusene Demoniac occurs on Jesus' first trip into Gentile territory. The location adds another dimension to Jesus' ministry of liberation. In this exocriem, Jesus includes Gentiles as well as Jesus as being in need of liberation. The coverium of Legion has policial meaning and the imagery can refer to the Roman military occupation of the area. The first exorcium allows Jesus to confonent the Jesush ruling class and the exorcism of the Geruseae allows Jesus to encounter the other element of colonialism in Palestine, the Roman military.

These inaugural exercisms have similarities that seem to indicate that Mark wanted these stories to be connected. In both stories, Jenus convenes with the demoniates. The demonia recognize Jenus and refer to him as the '18ty One of God' (Mark 1:24) and 'Son of the Most High God' (Mark 5:7). The demons also know that Jenus has the power to decitory or terment them. The parallels between the stories allow Mark to show that Jenus was engaged in a ministry of healing the poor that includes the Jevois people in the

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 141.
Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 143.

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 192.

area of Capernaum and the Gentiles when Jesus crosses the Sea of Galilee. In The parallels in the narratives also show that the exoceisms were symbolically significant. Myers shows that the public symbolic content of the exoceism narratives follow certain criteria (See Arenealti 1).

The exorcisms are understood as symbolic in the public sphere. The demoniac becomes symbolic of social tension and anxiety that are the result of the publical and religious systems that characterize life in the area surrounding the Sea of Galiloc.¹⁰⁷ Mark's use of these marrantees speak to the political situation at the time, and portrusy Jesus as the solution. Jesus has the authority that elevates him above the religious authorities, liberating people from a siriet and oppressive religious system. Jesus also has the power to symbolically liberate the people from the oppression that was felt in dealing with the presence of the Romans.

The initial exoretion occurs in the synagogue, the religious centre of rural areas such as Califee. Jesus enters into the synagogue on the Sabbath and performs the conceins. Such activity was strictly prohibited by Jeswish law, Jesus has entered the world of the scribes and religious authority and he immediately faces storng opposition. Among the people, he was received as a authoritative teacher unlike any other. This scene introduces the conflict with the authorities that characterized Jesus public ministry. The domes in the vorseque is sorbhied of the scribes and their radioses. The authorities the decimal time vorseque is sorbhied of the scribes and their radioses. The authorities the scribes are their radioses.

Mycrs, Binding the Strong Mon: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jerus, p. 192.

Mycrs, Binding the Strong Mon: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jerus, p. 192.

Mycrs, Binding the Strong Mon: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jerus, p. 192.

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 193.

the seribes which Jesus surpassed is central to Jewish religious life and influenced the social order. "The corocium of the demon was Jesus' way of asserting his authority. This leads to the confrontation that occurs between Jesus and the authorities in chapter three of the Google. Roceiman are an important part of the ministry that Jesus is embarking on and it is a threat to the political nature quo. The religious authorities recognize the threat that Jesus poses and struggle to control him. They accuse Jesus of doing the work of BedzGploxik Odark 3:221 in an effort to control and subdule him. Mark portrays the political clumater of the exocrisms of Jesus as being symbolic action. All the exoretism narratives included in Mark's text, while having differences in tone, deal with the power structures and alienation present in the social sphere."

The other correism narmives included in Mark's text include the exorcism of the daughter of a Syrophoenician woman and a young boy whom the disciples had been unable to help. These narmives are also an example of Mark's use of symbolic action. The encounter of Jesus and the Syrophoenician woman represents the Gentile populations of the area. The interaction of Jesus and pagann had increased as a result of the Hellenistic culture of the time. The woman approaching Jesus was a detriment to his honour as a Jesuish man. It was not customary for an unknown woman to approach a lewish man looking for a favour as this woman does, seeking Jesus to heal her daughter. As a result, Jesus' response in understandable in this social context, even expected of him. By

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 143.
 Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 143.

styces, naturing the Strong Man: A Follical Reading of Mark's Story of Jessa, p

rebuking the woman, Jesus is defending the collective honour of the Jewish people. 10 The woman responds to Jesus and, in a way, puts him on the defensive. Jesus heals the woman's daughter because of what she says. According to Myers, Jesus is "ahumed" into allowing the woman to experience the Kingdom that Jesus advocates. This exorcism is status reorders boundaries to allow Gentiles to be seen as equals. 10 This exorcism is paired with a healing that occurs in the Decapolis that furthers the suggestion that the Kingdom was now available to Gentiles as well as Jesus. The pairting of the narratives lituatises that Mark organized his text to pass particular thenes on to his audience, there the idea of inschorior is very important to the social order that Jesus is creating in Mark's text. Jesus has taken accepted social behaviour that was characteristic of life in the first centure, such as the behaviour dealing with honour and shame, and turned it around completely in these narratives, Jesus is establishing a new order that is open to outcusts and Gentlies. 10

The exorcism of the young boy in chapter 9 is the final coorcism Mark includes in the Goopel. As the final account of an exorcism it contains elements of the previous exorcisms and healings that occurred prior to this one. In this story, a man brings his son who has a spirit that has left the boy unable to speak as well as suffer sciences. According to the man, the disciples had already attempted to cast out the spirit but were unsuccessful (Mark 9.18). Issus appears to be annoyed by the faithliseness he sees, yet he agrees to

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 203.
 Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 204.
 Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 205.

help the boy. As soon as the boy is brought to Jesus the spirit causes the boy to convolue.

The boy had the spirit since childhood and had faller into water and fire as a result of the spirit (Mark 9-22). The man believed that Jesus can help the boy and Jesus then drives the spirit out of the boy. After the exorcism the disciples ask why they were unable to drive the spirit out of the boy. Sens tells them that it was a special type of spirit that can only be cant out with proper (Mark 9-28-29).

This narrative contains elements of other exocutions that have already appeared in the text. The exocrism is of a spirit and it left the witnesses annazed as in the Cupernaum correction at the beginning of the Gospel. The narrative provides details of how the spirit has impacted the well being of the boy, this is similar to the story of the Gerasseo Demoniac in which details were given regarding the affects of the demon on the man who was possessed. A parent approaches Jesus seeking help for his child in the same way the Syrophomician woman approached Jesus on her daughters' behalf. The presence of these sadde allouison to previous accounts shows the reader that healing and exorcisms are to be read as wresholds eaction. "

The structure of the narrative is built around the ideas of faith and doubt. The father in the story is struggling to have faith.¹⁰ He doesn't think there is help for his child since the disciples were unable to drive out the spirit. The dialogue between Jesus and the man recarding faith is the lew success of the narrative. The man tells Jesus that the

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 254.
 Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 255.

disciples were unable to drive out the spirit and Jesus appears to be frustrated in his reply. Jesus responds with a question, how much longer will he have to be with the faithless generation (Mark 9: 19) that the man seems to represent. Jesus wonders how much longer he must put up with them. But he wants the boy brought to him. The boy's father thinks that if Jesus is able, he could help and show them compassion. Jesus says that he can help. that anything is possible for those who believe. The father professes his faith by declaring "Therefore Bodden you of depende" (Mark 9:24). Jesus drives the spirit out of the boy as a crowd eathers. The parrative does not end with the amazement of the people who witnessed Jesus healing the boy. Instead the narrative ends with the disciples questioning Jesus about why they were unable to cast out the same spirit. The unbelief of the father is not the key issue in the narrative. The narrative is dealing with the unbelief of the disciples. The spirit left the boy unable to hear or speak. This is symbolic of the disciples inability to bear Jesus' teaching or understand the nurrose of Jesus' work. The spirit leaves the boy as though he is dead until Jesus intervenes and raises him. The apparent resurrection has further meaning when seen in light of the theme of unbelief. The resurrection of the self-into a life of belief seems to be the idea behind the symbolic action of the exorcism. The object of the exorcism is unbelief which is the despair that nothing can really change under the rule of the dominant powers, which result in resignation. 176 According to Jesus, prayer was necessary for the exoreism of the spirit, as it is necessary to the collective struggle against the status and and resignation to the control of the

¹⁷⁰ Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesses, p. 255.

dominant classes.171

The nurrative of Mark's Gospel presents to its readers a distinct picture of Jesus. The organization of the text stress the importance of the roles of Jesus. Jesus is a healer with many healing miracles included in the text. This dimension of Jesus' ministry puts him at odds with the religious authorities. The importance of the feeding nurratives contribute to the presentation of Jesus as the Bread of Life. Jesus serves this function to both lows and Gentlies in Mark's Gossel.

Jesus the Healer

One of the important dimensions of Jenus' ministry in Galilev was his ability to head. Mark presents numerous accounts that show Jenus healing the sick and casting out demones. This is an important part of Jenus' mission and revolution and must be viewed as unispose. The healing ministry illustrated Jenus' unique authority, Jenus had the authority to heal the sick, cast out demons, and raise the dead. While the healings highlight Jenus' authority, they are not only an ochibit of raw power, but the healings also display the power that accompanies the particular authority that Jenus possesses.¹⁷ Jenus had a particular autocompanies to share and the healings enforce his authority over that message.

Jesus' authority extends to the social sphere, he incorporates outcasts, the Gentiles, and women into his followers. He also has the authority to initiate the Kinedom of God.

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 256.

Warrington, Jesus the Healer: Paradigm or Unique Phenomenon, p. 2.

as well as authority over matters of Jewish law. In Mark, Jesus' authority over the law

Mark introduces the theme of authority in his account of Jesus' first healing, the exorcism at the synapogue in Cupernaum. Mark describes Jesus as teaching with authority, utilitie the serbies (Mark 1:22), and those that beard him and witnessed the healing were amount by the authority he possessed. The authority that Jesus exhibited in this healing contributes to the fame that develops around Jesus, making him well known throughout Galike. While this is Jesus' initial healing and the beginning of his problem initiaty, it would have been very controversial. The healing occurs in the synapogue which was off limits to those considered unclean. "Such as those possessed by spirits, it occurs on the Sabbath, when work of any kind was prohibited by law. Despite the problems the authorities would have had with Jesus and this healing, Mark does not include in his record vesseline for the unclease is his record vesseline the healing and the healing.

The untherities did know what feats was doing, in chapter 3 of the Giospel, Mark describes the Phartisees plotting against Jesus. Jesus heals a man with a withered hand in the synapsyme on the Sabbath (Mark 3:1-6). The Phartisees expect Jesus to head the man, and wait to see that he does perform the healing so that they can accuse him (Mark 3:2). In Greek the watching by the Phartises that Mark described was referred to as majorarpito, or watching suspiciously. Jesus challenges the authorities by questioning whether or not it is lawful to do good or do barried with Sabbath (Mark 3:3). Jesus whether or not it is a lawful to do good or do barried with Sabbath (Mark 3:3). Jesus whether the Mark describes in Merk Google The Pantisis and Computing Agents 2:3.

becomes ungry as a result of the hardness of heart he sees in the Pharinees when they do not answer, and then heals the man (Mark 3.5). Mark reports that following this encounter the Pharinees, began to compire with King Herods supporters against Jesus (Mark 3.6). The collaboration between the Pharinees and the Herodians is surprising, since the Pharinees would not have liked Herod or his supporters. By working together with the Herodians, Mark is stating that the Pharinees saw Jesus as a larger threat. "The conflict that occurs between Jesus and the Pharinees directs attention away from the healing in Mark. This conflict with the Pharinees continues throughout Mark's Goopel, resulting in Jesus' doubt.

The man who is headed is not the focus of the story. The bealing is a means of showing the authority of Jesus to head on the Sabbath. By calling the man to the front of the gathered community and healing his hand, Jesus is performing the healing for the benefit of the Pharisecs. They were silent in response to his question about doing good on the Sabbath. Mark doscribes Jesus as being angry that the Phariese would not respond, therefore he health the man with the withered had as a response to the silence of the Pharisecs. The Jewish religious substantials, including the scribes, Pharisecs, Chief Priests and Sadducese, are united in their opposition to Jesus. The Sabbath healings that Jesus performed provided the authorities with a reason to plot against him. Jesus was becoming very well known as a healter and theself. Therefore the Parises case with as a

Muckrell, The Healing Miracles in Mark's Gospel: The Passion and Compassion of Jesus, p. 53.
 Muckrell, The Healing Miracles in Mark's Gospel: The Passion and Compassion of Jesus, p. 54.

Mackrell, The Healing Miracles in Mark's Gospel: The Passion and Compassion of Jens, p. 55.

threat to their position in the community and in their own beliefs, by overtunning their own teachings." As the Goopel progresses the conflict between Josus and the authorities becomes more serious, resulting in the plot to arrest Jesus and have him killed. Following the encounter with the Pharisces in the synagogue, Jesus withdraws to the lake. He is followed by a large crowd of people from all over the area, including people from Gentille regions (Mark 33). Jesus heals many people of their illness and casts out demons. The encounter with the Pharisces did not stop Jesus from participating in his healing activities.

The plot of the Pharisees against Lews adds a political element to what is a first a religious issue. Jesus' healings on the Sabbath are problematic in the religious realm as doing any activity on the Sabbath goes against the religious baws. On a political level Jesus is struggling against the powers who have the religious and social authority. This struggle is evident during the Cogermann stage of Jesus' mission. The mission in Capermann concludes with an encounter with the authorities that brings the political ampacts of Jesus' mission to the attention of the readers of the Goopel. The scribes accouse Jesus of being possessed by a demon, which is the only reason he is able to heal and cust out demons. Jesus responds with the parable of the strong man which can be interpreted to reveal the political purpose of his mission. From this point, Jesus mission will be curried out across the political landscape of Roman Palectine.

The challenge to the the religious authorities that Jesus issues in the Sabbath

Muckeell, The Healing Miracles in Mark's Gospel: The Passion and Compassion of Jesus, p. 56.
 Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 140.

healings becomes clearer when the role of coorcion is considered. In the econcium in the Capernaum synagogue, the demon can be seen as being symbolic of the religious authorities. The religious authorities were central to shaping the Jewish social order.¹⁰⁷ This symbolium adds a new dimension to the coorcions. Jesus enters the synagogue, the domain of the religious authorities and drives out a demon that can be seen as a representation of the authorities. The exorcion of the demon becomes an act of confrontation in which Jesus presents his own authority to the people and presents it as a viable alternative to the authority of the religious leaders. This confrontation leads to the encounter in Mark 3: 2207, "" when Jesus is accused of being possessed by a demon in what appears to be an effort by the authorities to discredib him.

The majority of people that Jesus heals are the poor. Disease was a common problem among those living in poverty and had a large impact on their lives. Disease usually resulted in loss of wages and fittente improverialment. Mark portrays the healing mission of Jesus as being linked to the social-conomic status of those being healed. The healings Jesus performs are executed to his mission to bring liberation to the oppressed and marginalized. Those suffering from illness would have been marginalized in Jesus because and marginalized in Jesus the processor of the propers of the property that have been pushed to the margins due to

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 143.
 Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 143.

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 143.
 Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 144.

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 145.

poverty or illness, Jesus was challenging the social order as well as the authorities who unhold that order. 300

These actions contributes to the hostility that develops between Jesus and the religious subtorities. This continues throughout the Goopel, beginning with Jesus healing activities in Capernaum at the beginning of his mission and coming to an end in Jesusalem with the decision by the Substedrin to have Jesus crudifled. The mission in Capernaum ends with two accusations: that Jesus is possessed by a demon, made by the authorities, and that he is out of his mind as his family claims (Mark 3.21). The double attack on Jesus at the end of the Capernaum mission causes Jesus to move to a different area, taking his mission to the Gentiles. The sorthes saw themselves as God's representatives, therefore Jesus' callinger of their authority was seen as being the work of Satan.¹¹⁰ It was common for people in power to make accusations against bealers who had a positive and political role in the community. As Hollenbuch observes, "Witcherart accusations represent adiatancing strategy which seeks to discredit, sever, and worked accusations represent adiatancing strategy which seeks to discredit, sever, and work of causing what they care."

Myees, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 146.
 Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 165.

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 1
Hollenbach "Jesus, Demoniacs and Public Authorities" n. 577

Jesus the Bread of Life

The feeding nurratives in Murk's Gropel show how Jesus made his mission available to beth Jesus and Gentlies. Jesus feeds 5000 people in a Jesvish area and followed the miracle with a similar even in which he field 4000 people in Gentlies training. These narratives show that the message that Jesus was offering was available to both the Jesus and the Gentlies. Mark also uses these narratives to portray Jesus as the Breast of Life for both Jesus and Gentlies. Jesus is shown providing the necessities of life to a large group of Jesush people who have followed him into the withermess to hear him teach. He does the same thing when in Gentlie territory and a large group gathers around him. In both cases Jesus is able to feed those groups by using a small amount of food. Jesus does this nather than listen to the disciples who suggest sending the people into the nearest town to find their circ own food.

The feedings concern the needy. In both cases the people are emoved from their communities, and therefore available food. In these narratives, Jesus acts an originizer, with the intention of helping the lungary. There is a political criticism implied in the narratives. The people are seen by Jesus as being "sheep without a shepherd" (Mark. 634), causing Jesus to feel compassion towards the Jesvish crowds. This phrase has political implications when their on the context of the prophets: The pirtures was used by the peoples to criticize the leaders in Israel. ¹⁸ The criticism on he seem in Izraélsé, in which the leaders, as the shepherds, book after themselves rather than the well-being of

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jenus, p. 208.

the people.

Should not shepherds feed the sheep? You cat the fat, you clothe yourselves with the wool, you slaughter the fallings, but you do not feed the sheep... With force and harshness you have ruled them. So they were scattered...and they become food for all the wild beasts (Ezekiel 34:2ff.).

When seen in the light of the prophetic tradition, Jesus attending to the hunger of the crowds is a way of criticizing the dominant classes and the political economy that exist in Palestine.³⁸⁵

¹⁸³ Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 209.

¹⁸ Kelly R. Iverson, Gentiles in the Gospel of Mark: 'Even the Dogs Under the Table Eat the Children's Crusels' (London: T&T Clark, 2007), p. 178.

The stories are followed by a discussion between Jesus and the disciples (Mark 8:14-21). The feeding narratives are referred to when Jesus questions the disciples understanding of what he has done. The conversation shows that the disciples do not understand. Jesus asks them specific questions about the feeding miracles and they know the answers, such as how many baskets of food were collected following each feeding, vet they do not understand the purpose behind the feedings. Jesus is the Bread of Life for the Jews and the Gentiles. His message is available for all people. The inclusion of the Gentiles enforces an important dimension of the message of Jesus: the Kingdom of God is available to anyone who has faith. This dimension of Jesus and the score of his message is what the disciples do not understand. 100 The disciples appear to resist the feeding of the Gentiles. They want to send the people away to find their own food. They question Jesus' actions of feeding the Gentiles, which they did not do when the Jewish crowd was fed. In the case of the Jewish crowd the disciples offered to go and buy food for the people. They do not understand that Jesus is the Bread for the Gentiles as well as the Jews. The disciples appear to resist participating in the Gentile mission. 199

¹⁰⁰ Hawkin, "The Symbolism and Structure of the Marcan Reduction," p. 104.

¹⁰⁰ Wefald, "The Separate Gentile Mission in Mark: A Narrative Explanation of Markan Geography, the Feeding Accounts and Exorcisms," p. 20.

4. The Gerasene Demoniac in the Context of Mark's Message

The Markan Jesus

The structure used by Mark presents a message to his readers regarding the nature of the ministry Jeaus undertook in Galike. Mark presents Jesus as a helean at acader who included both Jesus and Gentiles. The story of the Geratens demoniac is visitat in understanding this dimension of Jesus's reaching. The story is the first account in Natur which Jesus interacts with Gentiles and heals a Gentile man. Moreover, the symbolic function of the story of the Geratens Demonius imparts a theme other than healing to the reader. Understanding the symbolic function of the story allows the reader to see the story as part of the deeper level of meaning found in the Gospel. Jesus is presented in Mark as bringing a message of liberation that is made available in the Kingdom of God that is open to both Jesus and Gentiles.

The Guspel of Mark potroys Jesus as leading a movement that challenged both Jewich religious authority and Roman rule. The issue of Rome becomes more evident in the last chapters of Mark, particularly during the account of Jesus' time in Jenusalum. While there are other biblical texts that are more extreme in their opposition to the Roman Empire, such as The Book of Reviolation, there are also many texts that are less critical, such as some off the epistless. The Guspel of Mark in not, then, on the extremes of either apologotics or podemics. But it is, nevertheless, clearly critical of both political and

³⁰ Stephen D. Moore, "Mark and Empire: "Zealot" and "Postcolonial" Readings," in *The Postcolonial Bibliog Reader*. R.S. Surirthamiah, ed. (Oxford: Blackwell Publishing, 2006), p. 199.

religious authorities. In Mark Jesus teaches his followers not to seek positions of authority, power or wealth. Mark's presentation of the "blindness" or incomprehension of the disciples is Mark's way of making this point, as we have seen above, ⁹⁰²

The feeding narratives also serve to reveal a symbolic nature of Jesus' ministry.

Bread serves as an important symbol in the Gospel. Mark uses these parratives to show that the authorities were unable, or unwilling, to provide for the spiritual welfare of the neonle because they were protecting their own position. Mark places Jesus in the tradition of the prophets who saw the oppression of the people to be the responsibility of the authorities. The feeding narratives, in which Jesus feeds thousands outside, is held in juxtaposition to the meal held by Herod at the palace (Mark 6:14-29) which immediately precedes the feeding of the 5000. Herod's meal was served to a few people from the upper classes, and it is characterized by the murder of John the Bantist at the request of Herod's wife. The meal served by Jesus to the crowd was the result of his compassion for the people. It is held outside in the wilderness instead of a large palace. The people are all ordinary people who walked to the area from the surrounding rural communities, instead of the powerful and elite that attended Herod's banquet. The differences between classes was a source of conflict. In Mark, Jesus appears to take a stance that promoted the fair treatment of the poor that freed them from the oppression that they suffered at the hands of the ruling groups. In the time of Jesus, the ruling class was made up of a minority that was located in the cities and were willing to culturally and economically accommodate

¹⁵² See discussion on pages 99-102 of this thesis.

the Roman colonial presence in the area. The majority of Pulestinians lived in rural areas and the accommodation of the Romans resulted in the economic marginalization and cultural isolation of the rural inhabitants, such as those in Galilee.¹¹⁰ The effects of the class differences on the poor, rural population and their relationship with the land and traditional property was profound.

tional property was profound.

By the time of Herod there are arisen many large landed existes. Simultaneous with the growth of these large existes there was a steady increase in population. Some peasant boldings were subdivided, but more often the younger brothers were left landless because of the inheritance laws. Moreover, large numbers of other peasants who had fallen into debt were forced into the ranks of the rural protestaric. Most of these became marginal day-labourers, Ferond, and to a degree, this successor employed many of these in elaborate building projects. That these labourers, permanently uproted from the land, formed a potential source of instability was a fact not lost in the ruling group . . . Thus even without the factor of foreign rule there would have been intense hostility between the common concile and builties over and the full rest or exist of their fire rise. "

The Markan Jesus was very concerned about the welfare of the poor classes and much of his ministry was spent bringing attention to their struggle and the role the authorities

played in creating the disparity among the classes.

¹⁰⁸ Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Lexus, p. 51.
¹⁰⁸ Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Lexus, p. 51 quoting Richard Horstsy "Ancient Lewith Banditry and the Revolt Against Rome, A.D. 66-70" Catholic Biblical Ownstriet 41 (1981) n. 44(6)

The Markan Message

in which all nearly were treated fairly. Jesus' work as a healer accurred most frequently among the poor. The people who received healing were doubly oppressed by the established social system. Their illness made them unclean and their poverty was a source of oppression. Jesus' actions freed the people from oppression. The healing of their illness made them clean and able to be reintegrated into the community. 165 Jesus advocated for communities, cooperation, sharing and forgiveness. All people would be included, the sick could be healed and demons cast out. This new social order challenged the religious authorities since it did not have a need for them. Jesus sought to ensure that God was accessible to all people, not confined to the temple, and to democratize Israel. 36 Jesus also rejected the politics and domination of colonialism. Jesus is shown as following the vision of Zechariah in which leaders acted as they did in a period before basic military organization. The ideal leader would be humble and available to the people. Mark recreates this vision when Iosus enters the city of Iorusalem riding a dankey and being violenmed by the neonle as a king (Mark 11:1-11) 197 Jesus developed a movement that was based on the practice of liberation. The movement Jesus formed was not a secret, it was a way of life and death with a hope for resurrection:

In Mark, Jesus' work among the poor was important to establishing a new order

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 445.
 Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 445.

Myers, Bending the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 445.
 Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Bending of Mark's Story of Josep. p. 446.

In Galilee, he began to proclaim that the moment had arrived to realize the vision of Yahweh's reign. As a rabbi he gathered a small band of followers, and laboriously instructed them in the puradox, applying it to every area of life. He tried debating with other rabbis, only to get kicked out of several synagogous. He kept on, itinerating [sic] around the Galilean villages, a heater, conscit, and friend to the poor."

According to Mark, when Jesus entered Jerusalem he demonstrated the principles of his movement, resulting in his death.

Mark shows Jesus as a leader of a small group that was seeking trenewal and reformation. Jesus begins his movement in a very specific area and expands and moves outward to outsine to advance his movement. Jesus evertually moves beyond the confines of the region of Galilee and takes his movement to the Gentles in the neighbouring areas. Jesus moves to Jerusalem for his final confrontation with the religious and political authorities who he challenged throughout his ministry. Mark is recessing an allocation althroughout present vottom.

The relationship between Jesus and the Jewish authorities appears in Mark to be strained. Jesus faces opposition from the scribes as soon as be beginn his public ministry. The exorcism of the demoniase in the Capernaum synagogue was the first action that Jesus undertook in his ministry and it was received with amazement from the people. It was not

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 446.

well received by the authorities. The hostility towards Jesus that was developing on the part of the religious authorities is made evident to Mark's audience in the account of the accusations of demon possession against Jesus. The authorities accuse Jesus of being possessed by Beelzebul. The opposition in Galilee begins to increase throughout the course of Jesus' ministry, to the point where the authorities compire against him (Mark 3:6). As Jesus faces opposition, he begins to withdraw from the crowds that he attracts. He appoints twelve disciples to accompany him.⁽¹⁰⁾

Mark represents the Jewish authorities as being comprised of three groups, the Herodian nobility, the serious and the aristonercy in Jennadem. Each group was opposed to Jesus and his movement during the course of Mark's narraine, Jeans also issued challenges to each group throughout his ministry. Much of the political power of these groups had decreased significantly with the presence of the Romans in the area. ²⁸⁵ Mark is critical of the authorities, and Mark is very critical of the brutal reputation of Herod in Galilec. The story of the doubt of John the Baptist allows Mark to acknowledge this criticism of the Herodian class. The Herodians are shown to be a threat to Jeans' followers through the doubt of the Baptist and their role as compirators with the Pharisees to decrease Jeans.

The scribes are also shown to be the enemies of Jesus. The scribes are influential in both religious and political spheres. They act as political and religious opponents to

¹⁹⁸ Hawkin, "The Incomprehension of the Disciples in the Marcan Reduction," p. 494.

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 423.

Jesus. They had formed a unique position of power based on legal expertise:

Mark is critical of the scribes because they are the developers of the dominant ideology. Mark places Jesus' teachings against this ideology. Mark attacks the position of the scribes and places them in a position of responsibility for the economic exploitation that characterizes rural communities.⁵⁰¹

Mark is also critical of the priesthood located in Jerusalem. Mark is not concerned with the legitimacy of the priesthood, which was a common dispute in the first century. Mark views the priests as an economic class who had gained control of the temple and

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jenns, p. 424 quoting Joschim Jeremins, Jerusalem in the Time of Jenns: An Investigation into the Economic and Social Conditions during the New Testaword Period (Philadelphis: Forteen, 1969). p. 236.

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 425.

therefore authority over the religious life of the people.²⁰ The priests also gained influence politically as the Romans acknowledged the position of the priests. The priests were given authority over colonial structures by the Romans. Mark conveys his opinions about the Armadom Herarchy in his account of Jesus full and execution. Mark portrays them as being disdainful of the discontentment of the masses yet in fear of it. They are shown as being manipulative and in collaboration with the Roman representative in Palestine. The hierarchy is shown to clearly act to preserve their own position and power, which Mark wholly rejecte.²⁰¹

Mark was not only critical of the Jewish ruling classes, he was also critical of the presence of the Romans in Palestine. As the exorcism in Capernaum was a direct challenge to the Jewish authorities, the exorcism of the Gerasene demoniac was directed at the Romans. The demon of Roman millitary occupation has to be subdued and removed from the area. While the imperial reality of the period was definitely an issue for Mark, the exorcism of Legion is about more than the Romans. The concept of domination that was at root in the politics of Palestine in the first century is of primary concern.³⁰ Jesus becomes an example for the audience of Mark's Goopel of non-violent resistance. The peaceful movement of Jesus was as effective as violent resistance in the period in which Mark composed his Goopel.²⁰ Mark's Goopel addresses a concern that the social

²⁰⁹ Control of the temple included the temple treasury. Mark deals with this in his report of the outrage of the priests that was directed towards Jesus following his attack on the temple market (Mark 11: 15-19).

The priests that was directed towards Jesus following his affack on the temple market (Mark 11:
 Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 425.

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 427.

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jerac, p. 431. Myers goes as far as saying that the cross was a symbol of resistance to Roman imperialism (p. 430).

institutions of the day, with their strict guidelines regarding parity and debt contributed to social strafification and reinforced social suggregation between leves and Centiles. Jesus' role as a healer and the bread of life for both Jesus and Gentiles was a form of defiance.¹⁰⁷ Mark constructs his text and his permait of Jesus to focus on the institutions that characterizes Palestinian society in the first century. He implicitly criticizes the social practices that contributed to the marginalization of people. Through the teachings and actions of Jesus, Mark promotes a social system that embraces human unity by catabilishing new economic and social boundaries. This begins with the inclusion of the poor, tick and outcast. It extends to include Gentlies.

The Coopel of Mark portrays Jesus as including both Jesus and Centilles as recipients of his message. The inclusion of Gentiles is startling as the interaction of Jesus and Gentiles was not in accordance with social norms. The inclusion of neutratives in which Jesus interacts with Gentiles in the Gospel is therefore significant. The inclusion of the Gentiles enforces a vital dimension of the message of Jesus; the Kinghen of God is inclusive of all peoples. The underlying themes of the encounters of Jesus with Gentiles is third edietic for inclusion. For example, in the encounter with the Syrophencician woman, Jesus' initial response is that the children must be fed first (Mark 7.27). The counterrangement from the woman that "even the dogs under the table out the children's counter-rangement from the woman that "even the dogs under the table out the children's counter-rangement from the woman that "even the dogs under the table out the children's counter-rangement from the woman that "even the dogs under the table out the children's counter-rangement from the woman that "even the dogs under the table out the children's counter-rangement from the woman that "even the dogs under the table out the children's counter-rangement from the woman that "even the dogs under the table out the children's counter-rangement from the woman that "even the dogs under the table out the children's counter-rangement from the woman that "even the dogs under the table out the children's counter-rangement from the woman that "even the dogs under the table out the counter-rangement from the woman that "even the dogs under the table out the children's counter-rangement from the woman that "even the dogs under the table out the children's counter-rangement from the woman that "even the dogs under the table out the children's counter-rangement from the woman that the properties of the children's counter-rangement from the children that the children is the children's counter-rangement from the children that the children that the children th

Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 431.

The encounter with the Syrophoenician woman follows a report of a disagreement between the Plantises and Jesus, on the issue of defilement (Mark 7:1-23). After the encounter with the Plantises, Jesus goes into Gentile territory where the encounters the Syrophoenician woman and heals a deaf man. Mark has further developed the theme of defilement by showing Jesus engaged in behaviour, touching and talking to Gentiles, that was considered to be acts of defilement by the religious authorities. The cause of the encounter was that the authorities noticed that some of the disriples are with deffiled, or unwanded, hands. They ask Jesus about this and Jesus calls them hypocritics and quotes from Insiah. According to Jesus, defilement is not caused by outside sources. Defilement is the result of things which originate within a person. According to Mark, Jesus declared all food clean (Mark 7: 19) and that contradicted Jewish food laws. Jesus names evil intentions that come from within a person are more problematic such as envy, deceit and slander (Mark 7: 12-12).

The coorsium of the Generate demonities is the initial event of the Gentile mission. In the coarse of the ecorcium, Jeans removes things that would have been considered unclean. The demons are removed from the man, allowing him to return to his community and no longer live as an outcast in a graveyard. The swise in the area, which become possessed by the Legion run into the sea and drown, can be seen as a symbol of the unclean state of the Gentiles as seen from the perspective of the Jews.³⁸ Therefore, Jesus Land, in a senso, declared the man clean by removing the Legion of demons and the swise.

³⁸ Would, The Segment Gentile Massian is MAA: A Neurale Explanation of Michael Geography, the

The man who has the demon cast out moves around the Decapolis telling others about what had happened to him (Mark 5:20), spreading Jesus' fame throughout the area. ¹⁰⁰ The exocision of the Genatene demoniae prepares for the rest of the Gentile mission which continues in Mark with the movement of Jesus into the area of Type (Mark 7:24).

The Gentiles, then, are part of a new dispensation, a new Israel. As part of the reconstruction of the new Israel, Jeans chooses 12 disciples. After Jeans is rejected in his hometown of Neazerth (Mark & 1-6), Jeans sends the disciples out on a mission. The disciples are given authority to cast out demons and teach. The mission of restoration of a new Israel, instead of a mission of preaching and converting a small group of followers. The opposition from the Jewish people, as in Nazareth, and the religious substricties allow Jesus to viden his mission.¹⁴ Jeans takes the mission he has stated among the Jewish people outside, to the Gentile people is shown through Mark's structural organization to run parallel to the ministry in the Jewish territories. The geographical movement as well as the exorcisms becomes a means of recognizing the shift to the Contile mission.

The disciples do not understand the things that Jesus is doing. A large portion of Mark is spent dealing with the disciples and their lack of understanding which is an important part of Mark's theme of the messianic secret. Following healings and expressions

²⁰⁸ Wefald, "The Separate Gentile Mission in Mark: A Narrative Explanation of Markan Geography, the Two Foodists Accounts and Experism" n. 16.

Hawkin, "The Incomprehension of the Disciples in the Marcan Redaction," p. 495.

Jesus will order the person who has been healed to remain quiet about the events of the healing. In the case of exorcisms Jesus will even order the demons being cast out to be silent. This can be seen in the story of the exorcism in the synagogue in Canernaum. The demon identifies Jesus as the "Holy One of God" (Mark 1:24). Jesus rebukes the demon. telling it to be silent. Following this story, Mark tells the reader that Jesus healed many sick and east out demons in a house in Capernaum. With each exorcism, Jesus would not permit the demons to speak because they knew him (Mark 1:34). In the parrative of the Gerasene demoniac, the first exorcism that Jesus performs among the Gentiles, there is no order for silence. The healed demoniac wants to leave with Jesus. Instead Jesus tells the man to stay behind and tell his friends "how much the Lord has done for you" (Mark 5:19) According to Mark, the man proclaimed through the area of the Decarolis about all that Jesus had done for him. Mark makes it clear however that in Jewish territory Jesus wants to remain hidden and avoid the attention of the public. This secrecy extends to the disciples as well until the halfway point of the text where during a conversation with the disciples Jesus asks them who people think he is. Peter says that he is the messiah and Jesus orders that they keep his identity a secret (Mark 8:27-30). After this declaration by Poter the disciples still appear to lack understanding about Jesus and his ministry. The disciples are aware of Jesus' identity as the messiah, but they do not understand the nature of Jesus' role as messiah. The secrecy surrounding Jesus as presented to the disciples is

different from the secrecy that is demanded of the people Jesus teaches and heals. It is not

a permanent score.¹⁰⁷ The secret that the disciples are aware of will be sold to the public at some point. Following Mark's account of the transfiguration, Jesus instructs the disciples who witnessed it that they must not tell anyone what they had seen until "after the Son of Man had rison from the dead" (Mark 9-9). The secret regarding Jesus' identity can be revealed following the resurrection.

The inability of the disciples to understand Jeans before Peter's declaration of the true identity of Jeans is but seen in Mark's trustment of the natratives that involve bread. The disciples lack of understanding in the conversation that is recorded by Mark in which the feeding miracles are mentioned is also used by Mark to show that Jeans was the Bread of Life for the Jeons and Gentiles. In Mark 8:14-21, the disciples are worried that they have no bread. Jeans questions them about the bread and the feeding miracles that occurred among the Jeons and Gentiles. The disciples do not understand "Jeons the loaves." The issue is not that the disciples had no bread. The issue that Mark is highlighting for his readers is that the disciples were with Leaus, who is the bread of life of all people, both Jeons and Gentiles. This was the underlying message of the feeding miracles. Jeans as the Bread of Life serves as a symbol of the unity of all people, including the omeries of Jeons and Gentiles that Jeons advecates." This is central to the new social order that is the basis of Jeans overall message. Following this secount. Mark shows that the disciples benefit on the message of the recommendation of the unity of all people, including the omeries of Jeons and Gentiles that Jeons advecates." This is central to the new social order that is the basis of Jeans overall message. Following this secount. Mark

Hawkin, "The Incomprehension of the Disciples in the Markan Redaction," p. 492
 Werner Kolber, Mark's Story of Josus (Fortress Press: Philadelphia, 1979), p. 40.

secret.²¹¹ The first half of Mark's text deal with the question of who Jesus is, as the disciples try to understand, with the answer being shown through the teachings and actions of Jesus that ends with the reader knowing that Jesus is the Bread of Life for the Jesus and Gentiles even if the disciples sho not understand this.

The disciples become insiders as the Gospel progresses. The disciples are treated as insiders even though they do not completely understand what exactly they are insiders to. They eventually figure out the secret of Jesus' identity, but fail to understand his decisity. They try to understand why Jesus uses parables in Mark 4:10-12. Jesus responds by telling them they are insiders, and should understand what Jesus glone and what is to come, those on the outside need parables to be able to understand what Jesus is doing:

ύμιν τό μυστήριον δέδοται τής βασιλείας τοῦ Θεοῦ. Εκείνοις δέ τοὶς ἔξιο έν παραβολαίς τὰ πάντα γίνεται.

"To you has been given the secret of the Kingdom of God, but to the

outsiders everything is in parables" (Mark 4:11).215

Jesus' explanation of the use of parables creates a distinction between the disciples and the crowds who come to hear Jesus teach. Mark may be using this distinction to speak to the reader. Readers can identify with the disciples as they, like the disciples, receive the explanation of the parables. The literary device of the incomprehension of the disciples is

Hawkin, "The Incomprehension of the Disciples in the Marcan Redaction," p. 495. 84 Hawkin, "The Incomprehension of the Disciples in the Marcan Redaction," p. 496.

Hawkin, "The Incomprehension of the Disciples in the Marcan Reduction," p. 496.
 Hawkin, "The Incomprehension of the Disciples in the Marcan Reduction," p. 496.

spedigy per contrurium, as what the disciples fail to understand is what the reader is called upon to understand. The icomprehension of the disciples is a useful tool for Mark as it allows him to state what it is that Jesus was doing, seeking a new order that as a revenual unity of all people. Mark's new scheme introduces a social order that it a revenual for traditional values and judgements.⁵⁸ The traditional ways lead to the exclusion and marginalization of many people, while the new proposed way seeks to end this by liberating those who suffer exclusion and marginalization. This is why the actions of Jesus as a heater of the Jews and Gentiles as well as the characterization of Jesus as the bread of life for Jews and Gentiles is so important to Mark's Googel.

Conclusion: "My Name is Legion"

"bo not terment me . . . My name is Legion" the Gerusene demoniae declares. In other words: "This is who I am. . This is what I am. A man possessed by the Legion. A man possessed by the polluting Powers of the land." I am an outcast. Leave me alone. Do not challenge these Powers."

But Jesus does not leave him alone. He does challenge the Powers, and he heals him, that is, makes him whole ($\sigma(\phi(a))$. The Legion is east out of him, symbolically driven into the sea. The Gerusene demoniac is no longer estranged from his fellow human

Hawkin, "The Incomprehension of the Disciples in the Marcan Redaction," p. 500.
 Myers refers to the demons as the Powers, Myers, Binding the Strong Marc A Political Reading of March Story of Lours, p. 191.

beings.

The symbolism is unmisstable.¹⁰⁷ The exorecisms are a sign of the coming of the Kingdom when the Powers which divide and oppress and will be overcome. Mereover, as Jesus casts out demons both in a synagogue and in a polluted graveyard in a Gentile region, it is clear that his mission is for all of the marrinalized, be they Jew or Gentile.

It has been said of the Gospel of John that its story is so rich that it is like a pool in which a child can play and an elephant can swim. It has almost endless interpretative possibilities. For much of its history the Gospel of Mark has been regarded as an artless, if faithful, story of Jesus. In recent times, however, it has come to be recognized that almough Mark is no stylist, being the most grammatically imperfect of all of the Gospels, be, too, has created a narrative for—to continue with the image—children and elephants. Mark is a wonderful story teller and his narrative is complex and sophisticated.¹³⁵

Nothing illustrates Mark's narrative provess better than the story of the Gerasene demoniae. The story may be read on many levels. On the simplest level it is the story of a compassionate Jeans healing a very sick man. But on a desper level the story reveals much about the social, religious and political conditions of the time and the true significance of Jeans' mission.

We have seen in chapter one how, in the ancient world of Palestine, politics and

Traditionally, there have been three explanations for the use of the name "Legion." First, that it is an attempt at evasion (giving a number instead of a name). Second, that it indicates an experience involving a Legion which lies at the root of the man's madness. Third, it indicates multiple personalities

^{(&}quot;we are many"). But the use of "Legica" goes beyond these explanations.
Stephen Moore and Junior Capel Anderson, Mark and Method: New Approaches in Biblical Studies (Philadelphia: Fortress Press, 2008).

religion were inextricably bound together. The great merit of Horsley's work is that he shows how, to fully appreciate the dimensions of Mark's story, one has to appreciate that the worldview of the Jews at the time of Jesus cannot be separated from political realities. Such a realization throws into much starker relief the true significance of the mission of

Such a realization throws into much starker relief the true significance of the mission of Jesus. Jesus challenges the political and social order of the day in a radical manner. His heatings, particularly his exorcisms, are an integral part of that challenge. Paul Hollenbach's study of exorcisms complements that of Horsley by drawing out

the full social and cultural significance of demonic possession at the time of Jesus. Demon possessed people -- demoniacs -- were not simply "mentally III" people. Their behaviour embedied a whole spectrum of influences and forces. Demoniacs embedded within themselves the cultural, political and religious tensions and conflicts of the time. By healing demoniacs Jesus was not merely curing an individual of mental illness. He was marking a statement about the society which had produced such individuals. After he had cured the Gerasene demoniac Jesus instructed him to become once again a functioning member of the community (Mark 5:19). By doing so he was breaking down burriers on a very basic level. For Jesus, people on the margins -- such as the demon recorsect--- were no fourer to be remothed as outcasts.

Rene Girard's work addresses the psychology of the outcast, specifically the one who is made a scapegost. The scapegost functions, in a perverse way, as a unifying figure. The scapegost becomes the one who is to blame for religious and political discord and as such unifies people against him (or her). Demoniase often functioned as scapegous. When Jeans heals a demoniac, therefore, he is saying that the social order needs to be changed so that it includes, ruther than excludes, such marginalized people. Only when the problems of society are addressed on a much deeper level will it function as God willis it. The Kingdom includes everyone. Justice, compansion and mercy are the pillar of the Kingdom. Exclusion, blume and persecution are annathems to it.

One of the great contributions of biblical criticism is to see texts as social products. ²⁸⁸ Biblical texts are a product of their time. The authors of the biblical texts are human beings bound by historical forces and circumstances. Their writings emobely a latent content²⁰¹ which, when explored, reveals a vast unconscious terrain of conflicting psycheic forces arising out of the temporal dynamics of history. The work of Rollins is important in exploring this insight. He alerts us to the fact that our own placement in the historical continuum models how we view the interpretive process. In a posed-Freudlan and post-lunglian word low are well positioned to see elements in the text that were not apparent to previous generations. As Rollins poetically parts it, meaning is revealed in a "spectrum of artistic, moral, littingical, destrant, seedia, sprintaal, and cultural expressions fessioned to seed to and fee the full traintrib.

Mark's story of the Gerasene demoniac is, then, in and of itself, a story richly evocative and replete with meanine. As a story which stands by itself it may take its

See Christopher Rowland and Mark Conner, Liberating Exegesis: The Challenge of Liberation Theology to Biblical Studies (London: SPCK, 1990).

to Behinai Studies (Londen: SPUK, 1999).
If it is Sigman Freud of course, who has systemically explored the notion of latest and manifest content, both in dreams and in everyday life. See The Basic Writings of Sigmand Freud (Psychopathology of Euryskay Life, the Interpretation of Dreams, and Three Contributions to the Theory of Sex) (New York: Modern Librar, 1995).

²² Rollins, Soul and Psyche: The Bible in Psychological Perspective, p. 174.

place alongside the great stories of the bible. But it is also part of a larger story, The Greatest Story Ever Told, as one film maker pai it,²³³ the story of Jesus. As we have seen, Mark's story of Jesus is no simple narrative. It has a highly complex structure and is multivalent. The tall of the Gerssene demoniae functions within that story as a hormonoutical leve which unlocks the decree meaning of the narrative.

We have seen, in our analysis of the attracture of Mark, how he integrates two narrative "cycles" – the Hend Cycle and the Exorcine Cycle. The two cycles are woven together to cluedate Mark's great them: Jenus is a universal figure, bringing a message of inclusivity and renewal. He is the great healer who, through his healings (expectably the exorcisms) breaks down barriers of exclusion and summons the marginalized to embrace the Kingdom – Gorfs reign on earth. He is the bringer of a new dispensation, for Jeva and for Gentile, and he is the giver of new life. He is the bread of life for Jew and for Gentile.

The Gospel of Mark's message of "wholeness" (normpfu) for all rings tood and clear in its pages. The story of the Gerasene demoniae is a crucial building block in this message. Through this story Mark shows how Jeans callenges not only the status quo established and maintained by the Jewish religious authorities, but the whole political and social order of the time. The bealing of the Gerasene demoniae is an implied criticism of Store Intel[®]. The Book of Resentation was later to them Borne to a whose and describe.

The Greatest Story Ever Told is a 1965 Hollywood version of the life of Jesus produced and directed by

starkly vindictive terms how it would be destroyed. ** Mark's narraive is much more subtle and far less venomous. But, nevertheless, there can be no doubt for those who read "between the lines" that Mark sees the rule of Rome as exploitative and destructive. It is a rule which marginalizes and oppresses and is the very opposite of the Kingdom of God.

The radical nature of Jesus' teaching and actions can easily be obscured. The Church has often preferred the image of a gentle Jesus, one who is "meck and mild". But Mark's Jesus, at least, is fit mere like the "immensurably great Man" who sought to "bend history to his purpose" so belived by Albert Schweitzer.²³³ He is a man" who dured to challenge the Powers of his day. He is a man who had a new vision for humanity, a Kingdom into which all are invited —men and women, Jew and Gentile, rich and poor, white and non-white. It is a brenth-taking vision which has impried countless people through the centuries. It is a vision which continues to inspire today.

Καί οἱ βόσκοντες αὐτοὺς ἔφιγον καί ἀπήγγεὐαν κἰς την πόλεν καὶ εἰς τοὺς ἀγρούς: καὶ ἦλθον ἱδεῖν τἱ ἐστιν τὸ γεγονύς. Καὶ ἔρχονται πρὸς τὸν Ἰησοῦν,καὶ δεαιρούσεν τὸν δαιμονιζόμενον καθήμενον ἡματισμένον καὶ συσφονούνται, τὸν ἐστικόται τὸν Λεπιδνιι, καὶ ἐκοιδίθθησαν.

234 See especially Revolution 17 18 and 19

Albert Schweitzer, The Quest for the Historical Jesus (London: A and C Black, 1910), p. 370.
²⁸⁶ 1 am not implying by this statement that Jesus was merely a man. The traditional Christian doctrine is, of

course, that Christ was both God and man. A discussion of this paradox is way beyond the scope of this thesis. For an excellent short summary of the issue see Phillip Jenkins, Jesus Wars (New York: Harper Collins, 2010), p. viloxv.

Appendix 1

Criteria	Synagogue Exorcism	Gerasene Exorcism
Entrance	Into the synagogue (1:21)	Sea crossing(5:1)
Exit	From the synagogue (1:29)	Returning crossing (5:21)
Symbolic setting	Synagogue on the Sabbath (Jewish)	Decapolis (Gentile); tombs and swine (unclean)
Demoniac's description	A man possessed by an unclean spirit	A man with an unclean spirit
Symbolic representation	scribes	Roman "legions"
Conflict	authority	Colonial occupation
Demoniae's challenge	Shouted: what do you want with us Jesus of Nazareth?	Shouted at the top of his voice: what do you want with me, Jesus, Son of the most high God swear you will not torture me (they begged him not to expel them from the country)
Jesus' command	Rebuked, "Be silent and come out of him"	Saying to him, "come out of the man, you unclean spirit"
Demon's capitulation	With a loud cry went out of him	The unclean spirits came out
Crowd Reaction	The people were astonished	They were afraid

Criteria and narrative elements from Myers, Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus, p. 193.

Bibliography

Rooks

Aland, Barbara et al. The Greek New Testament Fourth Revised Edition. Deutsche Bibligesellschaft, United Bible Societies, 1993.

Auden, W.H. Another Time. New York: Random House, 1940.

Bagster, Samuel. Greek-English New Testament. London: Bagster and Sons. 1964.

Bolt, Peter G. Jenus' Defeat of Death: Persuading Mark's Early Readers. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2003.

Broadhead, Edwin K. Teaching with Authority: Miracles and Christology in the Gospel of Mark. Sheffield, England: Sheffield Academic Press, 1992.

Brondhead, Edwin K. Naming Jesus: Titular Christology in the Gospel of Mark. Sheffield England: Sheffield Academic Press, 1999.

Broadhead, Edwin K. Mark. Sheffield England: Sheffield Academic Press, 2001.

Capel Anderson, Janice and Stephen D. Moore. Mark and Method: New Approaches in Biblical Studies, Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1992.

Conner, Robert. Jesus the Sorcerer: Exercist and Prophet of the Apocalypse. Oxford: Mandruke. 2006.

- Cook, John G. The Structure and Persuasive Power of Mark: A Linguistic Approach.
- Atlanta: Scholars Press, 1995.
- Cook, Michael J. Mark's Treatment of the Jewish Leaders. Leiden: E.J. Brill, 1978.

 Dodd. C.H. The Authority of the Bible. London: Nisbet & Co. Ltd. 1955.
- Duling, Dennis. The New Testament: History, Literature, and Social Context. Belmont,
 - California: Wadsworth Publishing, 2003.

 Fowler, Robert F. Let the Reader Understand: Reader-Response Criticism and the
- Gospel of Mark. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1991.

 Girard, René, The Scapegoat. Baltimore: John Hookins University Press. 1986.
- Hammerton-Kelly, Robert. The Gospel and the Sacred: Poetics of Violence in Mark.
 - Minneapolis: Augsburg Fortress, 1994,

 Harrington, Daniel J. and John R. Donahue. The Gouvel of Mark. Colleceville.
 - Minnesota: The Liturgical Press, 2002.

 Hawkin, David J. The Johannine World: Reflections on the Theology of the Fourth
 - Gospel and Contemporary Society. Albany: State University of New York Press,
- 1996.

 Horsley, Richard A. Hearing the Whole Story: The Politics of Plot in Mark's Gospel.
- Horsley, Richard A. Hearing the Whole Story: The Politics of Plot in Mark's Gospe Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press, 2001.

- Humphrey, Robert L. Narrative Structure and Message in Mark: A Rhetorical Analysis.
- Lewiston NY: The Edwin Mellen Press. 2003.
- Iverson, Kelly R. Gentiles in the Gospel of Mark: 'Even the Dogs Under the Table Eat the Children's Crumbs ! London: T&T Clark 2007.
- Jenkins, Philip. Jesus Wars. New York: Harper Collins. 2010. Kelber, Werner H. Mark's Story of Jesus. Philadelphia: Fortress Press, 1979.
- Mackrell. Gerard. The Healing Miracles in Mark's Gospel: The Passion and Compassion
- of Jesus, Middlegreen, England: St. Paul Publication, 1987. McGann, Diarmuid, The Journeying Self: The Gospel of Mark Through Jungian
- Perspective. New York: Paulist Press. 1985.
- Myers, Ched. Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesux. Maryknoll, NV: Orbis Books, 1988.
- Purnell, Puck. Through Mark's Eyes. Nashville: Abingdon Press, 2006.
- Rhoads. David. Reading Mark Engaging the Gospel. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2004.
- Rollins, Wayne G. Soul and Psyche: The Bible in Psychological Perspective. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1999.
- Rowland, Christopher and Mark Corner, Liberating Exceptis: The Challenge of
 - Liberation Theology to Riblical Studies, London: SPCV, 1990.
- Schweitzer, Albert, The Ouest for the Historical Jesus, London: A and C Black, 1910.

- Sorenson, Eric. Possession and Exorcism in the New Testament and Early Christianity. Tübingen: J.C.B. Mohr. 2002.
- The Basic Writings of Sigmund Freud (Psychopathology of Everyday Life, The Interpretation of Dreams, and Three Contributions to the Theory of Sex). New York: Modern Family, 1995.
 - Tweleftree, Graham. Jesus the Exorcist: A Contribution to the Study of the Historical Jesus. Peabody, Mass: Hendrickson Publishers, 1993.
- Warrington, Keith. Jesus the Healer: Paradigm or Unique Phenomenon. Carlisle, UK: Paternoster Press, 2000.
- Weatherhead, Leslie D. Psychology, Religion and Healing. Nashville: Abingdon, 1951.
- Wink, Walter. Unmasking the Powers: The Invisible Forces that Determine Human Existence. Philadelphia: Fortress Press, 1986.
 - Witherington, Ben. The Gospel of Mark: A Socio-Rhetorical Commentary, Grand Rapids, Michigan: William B. Eerdmans Publishing Company, 2001.

Articles and Essays

Adna, Jostein, "The encounter of Jesus with the Gerasene Demoniac," in *Authenticating the Activities of Jesus*, ed. Bruce Chilton and Craig A. Evans. Leiden: Brill, 1999; pp. 279-302.

- Arnold, David Scott. "Hidden Since the Foundation of the World: Girard, Turner, and
- Two Mythic Readings," in The Daemonic Imagination: Biblical Text and Secular Story; ed. Robert Detweiler and William G. Doty. Atlanta: Scholars Press,

1990: pp. 137-148.

- Calloud, Jean. "Toward a Structural Analysis of the Gospel of Mark." Semela 16 (1979): pp. 133-165.
- (1979): pp. 133-165.
 Chilton, Bruce. "An Exorcism of History: Mark 1:21-28," in Authenticating the Activities

of Jesus, ed. Bruce Chilton and Craig A. Evans, Leiden: Brill, 1999: pp. 215-246.

- Derrett, J. Duncun M. "Spirit Possession and the Gerasene Demoniac." Man 14 (1979): pp. 286-293.
- Evans, Craig A. "Jesus' Exorcisms and Proclamation of the Kingdom of God in the Light of the Testaments," in Changing Face of Judaism, Christianity, and Other Greco-
- Roman Religions in Antiquity. Gütersloher: Gütersloh, 2006; pp. 210-233

 Guijarro, Santiago. "The Politics of Exorcism," in The Social Settings of Jesus and the
 - Gospels, ed. Wolfgang Stegemann, Bruce J. Malina, and Gerd Theissen.

 Minneapolis: Augsburg Fortress, 2002: pp. 159-174.
- Harris, Geoffery. "Mark and Mission," in Mark: Gospel of Action: Personal and Community Responses, ed. John Vincent. London: SPCK, 2006: pp. 129-142.

- Hawkin, David J. "The Incomprehension of the Disciples in the Marcan Reduction."
- Journal of Biblical Literature 91 (1972): pp. 491-500.
- Hawkin, David J. "The Symbolism and Structure of the Marcan Redaction." The Evangelical Quarterly 49 (1977): pp. 98-110.
 Hollenbach. Paul. "Help for Interpreting Jesus' Exorcions." Society of Bibliot
- Hollenbach, Paul. "Jesus, Demoniacs and Public Authorities." Journal of the American

Literature Seminar Papers 32 (1993): pp. 119-128.

- Academy of Religion 49 (1981): pp. 567-588.

 Howard. J. Keir. "New Testament Exorcism and its Significance Today." The
 - Expository Times 96 (1985): pp. 105-109.
 - Malbon, Elizabeth Struthers. "The Beginning of a Narrative Commentary on the Gospel of Mark." Society of Biblical Literature Seminar Papers 35 (1996): pp. 98-122.
 - Malbon, Elizabeth Struthers. "Echoes and Foreshadowing in Mark 4-8. Reading and Rereading." Journal of Biblical Literature 112 (1993): pp. 211-230.
- Rereading," Journal of Biblical Literature 112 (1993): pp. 211-230.
 Malbon, Elizabeth Struthers. "The Jesus of Mark and the Sea of Galilee." Journal of Biblical Literature 103 (1984): pp. 363-377.
- Malbon, Elizabeth Struthers. "The Jewish Leaders in the Gospel of Mark. A Literary Study of Marcan Characterization." Journal of Biblical Literature 108 (1989): pp. 259-281.

- Moore, Stephen D. "Mark and Empire: 'Zealot' and 'Postcolonial' Readings," in The Postcolonial Biblical Reader, ed. R.S. Sugirtharajah. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing Ltd, 2006: pp. 193-205.
- Parker, S. Thomas. "The Decapolis Reviewed." Journal of Biblical Literature 94
- Peterson, Norman R. "The Composition of Mark 4:1-8:26." The Harvard Theological Review 73 (1980): pp. 185-217.

(1975): pp. 437- 441.

- Sellew, Philip. "Composition of Didactic Scenes in Mark's Gospel." Journal of Biblical Literature 108 (1989): pp. 613-634.
- Starobinski, Jean and Dan O. Via. "The Struggle with Legion: A Literary Analysis of Mark 5:1-20." New Literary History 4 (1973); pp. 331-356.
- Stecker, Christan. "Jesus and the Demoniacs," in *The Social Settings of Jesus and the Gospels*, ed. Wolfgang Stegemann, Bruce J. Malina, and Gerd Theissen.
- Minneapolis: Augsburg Fortress, 2002: pp. 117-133.
 Stein, Robert H. "Is Our Reading the Bible the Same as the Original Audience's Hearing
 it? A Case Study in the Gospel of Mark." Journal of the Evanvelical
- Theological Society 46 (2003): pp. 63-78.

 Thiering, B.E. "Breaking of Bread" and "Harvest" in Mark's Gospel." Novum
 Testamentum 12 (1970): pp. 1-12.

Wefald, Eric K. "The Separate Gentile Mission in Mark: A Narrative Explanation of Markan Geography, the Two Feeding Accounts and Exorcisms." Journal for the

Study of the New Testament 60 (1995): pp. 3-26.







